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Our mission is to protect consumers’ 
health and consumers’ interests 
by ensuring that food consumed, 
distributed, marketed or produced in 
the State meets the highest standards 
of food safety and hygiene.
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Food Incident Management Protocols

Incident | linsid(e)nt | n. & adj.

n. 1a an event or occurrence.

A food incident is generally caused by the identification of a hazard in a food 
which poses a risk to human health. The Authority’s role in managing these 
incidents involves a comprehensive multi-pronged strategy. A specialist team 
acts as a central contact point for gathering and issuing all information in 
relation to a particular food incident. Management actions include contributing 
to the risk analysis process; providing enforcement support; acting as an 
information resource for scientific expertise; issuing national and international 
food alerts; and notifying and updating official agencies. In addition, the 
Authority provides advice to a range of stakeholders, including Government 
departments, official agencies, the food industry and the general public.

Since the Authority’s establishment, it has devised, revised and 
enhanced its food incident management protocols for dealing 
with these scientific, logistical and public health related issues, 
all with the one main focus of consumer health protection.

e
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The pork dioxin crisis showed 
the mettle of our inspection and 
control regime in the food sector. It 
highlighted that Ireland’s national food 
surveillance systems work – routine 
sampling identified the problem and 
it was traced back to the original 
source of the problem. There is 
no doubt that this was one of the 
biggest food recalls ever in Ireland, 
and possibly in Europe, to-date. 
But through swift decisions and 
cross-departmental and agency co-
operation, it was a recall with product 
back on the shelves in less than six 
days. The European Commission 
and numerous international agencies 
commended Ireland’s swift decisions 
and actions in relation to this incident 
and our reputation as a sound 
and successful regulatory agency 
was protected and secured. 

It demonstrated internationally that 
Ireland is serious about its food safety 
controls, is transparent in its operations 
and has the scientific expertise and 
governmental vision to manage and 
control a crisis swiftly. However, it 
was not the only time in 2008 that 
the Authority had to deal with a major 
food safety incident. In August, a food 
poisoning outbreak was identified 
that had resulted in illness nationally 
and internationally. An outbreak of 
Salmonella Agona affecting Ireland 

and seven other European countries 
was traced back to a food processor 
in Ireland. It led to the withdrawal 
of a large number of products that 
had been supplied through major 
restaurant chains. Again, this outbreak 
demonstrated that the food safety 
controls worked and the traceability 
system identified implicated product, 
which was recalled immediately.

During the year, the Authority worked 
closely with the Local Authority 
Veterinary Service to bring a case 
against a company that was in 
breach of labelling and food and feed 
regulations. The successful outcome 
of this prosecution sends a warning to 
the food industry that the law must be 
complied with, whilst it also reassures 
consumers that illegal labelling of 
foodstuffs will not be accepted. The 
core premise of our remit is based 
on being an independent, science-
based agency, dedicated to protecting 
consumers’ health and consumers’ 
interests in the area of food safety and 
hygiene. To achieve this requires raising 
standards across the food chain in 
terms of food production and delivery, 
and ensuring that food on sale provides 
appropriate information for consumers 
to make informed purchasing 
choices. I am happy to report that 
2008 was a year that saw significant 
development in the level of the 

6
The pork dioxin crisis showed the mettle 
of our inspection and control regime in 
the food sector. Through swift decisions 
and cross-departmental and agency 
co-operation, it was a recall that was 
completed in less than six days.

Year in Review

Chairman’s Statement

It is somewhat unusual that in my second year as Chairman 
of the Food Safety Authority of Ireland, I start my statement 
focusing on the latter part of the year, rather than the 
start. The reason being of course, is that Ireland faced 
one of its largest ever food crises in December 2008.

100
A significant asset to formulate best 
thinking and approaches based on 
science lies in our scientific advisory 
structure of almost 100 scientific experts.
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Authority’s work outputs in this regard. 
A comprehensive Safe Catering Pack 
is being produced which will assist 
some 29,000 food service businesses 
meet their legal requirement to manage 
food safety. Working in partnership 
with industry, our objective to reduce 
salt in the daily diet moved forward 
with some notable achievements 
in foodstuffs containing less salt 
and thus improving public health. 

Of particular note in 2008, was the 
prestigious World Health Organization 
Food Safety Award received by 
the Authority in recognition of 
its international contribution in 
promoting food safety globally. It 
is only the second time the World 
Health Organization has granted this 
award, which is given for exceptional 
efforts in addressing food safety 
problems and for an outstanding 
contribution in the promotion of 
human health through food safety. 

Fundamentally, all the work we 
have undertaken has a common 
driver – to protect consumer health 
in relation to food. We recognise 
that while our overall aim is the 
protection of consumers at home and 
of consumers of Irish food abroad, 
achieving this requires a strategy that 
addresses all of the key influences 
on the Irish food safety arena. 

Our work and achievements would 
not be to the standard we all enjoy 
without the many efforts of the staff in 
the official agencies who work under 
service contract to the Authority. We 
are grateful to staff of the Department 
of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, 
the Health Service Executive, the 
Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority, 
the Marine Institute, the Local 
Authority Veterinary Service and 
the National Standards Authority 
of Ireland for their professionalism 
and efforts, together with their 
ability to take on the implications of 
the constantly changing legislative 
environment and applying that to the 
work they do each and every day. 

The Board would like to thank 
the Minister for Health and 
Children, Mary Harney T.D., and 
staff of the Department of Health 
and Children, who have been 
supportive of the Authority in its 
endeavours and actions this year. 

My fellow Board members have 
provided significant guidance to 
the Authority and I am grateful for 
their contribution to the strategic 
direction of the Authority and for the 
support they have provided to me 
during the year. I am also grateful 
to the members of the Food Safety 
Consultative Council who have 
acted as a sounding board on food 
safety matters throughout the year. 

Sixty five scientific experts participate 
in our scientific advisory structure. They 
are a significant asset to formulate 
best thinking and approaches based 
on science. Much appreciation and 
thanks to each member for their 
time and expertise which they give 
to the Authority on a voluntary basis. 
Finally, I would like to thank our Chief 
Executive and all the staff for their 
work, dedication and enthusiasm. 

In December 2008, it was announced 
that the Authority is to amalgamate 
with the Irish Medicines Board and 
the Office of Tobacco Control. The 
Authority welcomes any initiative 
that can further enhance and 
protect consumers’ health and 
consumers’ interests. The Authority 
looks forward to participating in 
this process, to ensure a swift 
and seamless amalgamation. 

The Authority is moving into its tenth 
anniversary in 2009. Looking back 
on a decade of work, there is no 
doubt it has been a significant asset 
in Ireland’s armoury of protecting 
its reputation in relation to food 
and thus, by association, being 
an asset to an important sector 
of Irish industry. Today, more than 
ever, in the highly challenging and 
unprecedented economic conditions 
facing Ireland, every advantage that 
can add value to Ireland Inc. must 
be protected and safeguarded. Food 
safety assurance and excellence in 
standards is certainly a key asset 
to have as we move forward.

Mr Eamonn Ryan
Chairman
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Annual Review

It was a very hard and critical decision 
to instigate a total market recall 
of pork manufactured from pigs 
slaughtered in Ireland between 1 
September and 6 December 2008 
– but it was the correct decision. 
The fact that the Authority, together 
with its official agencies, was able 
to identify the dioxin problem 
through the routine national residue 
monitoring programme, carry out a 
risk assessment to determine risks to 
consumer health, recall contaminated 
products from the market (thus 
reducing potential for exposure to 
dioxins), and restrict farms which 
had received the contaminated 
feed, all add up to the effective 
management of a national food crisis. 

The Irish dioxin crisis also 
demonstrated how far food safety 
at European level has progressed 
over the past ten years. Networking 
and cooperation have been a 
priority for the Authority since its 
inception. Collaboration with the 
European Food Safety Authority, the 
European Commission and other 
EU food safety agencies assisted 
in putting the risk to consumers’ 
health in perspective and also with 
instigating a rapid international 
recall of implicated products. Clear 
and honest communication was 
essential throughout the crisis to 

assure consumers and minimise 
damage to Ireland’s reputation 
as a supplier of safe food.

The value of one of the top laboratories 
in Ireland came to the fore in 2008. 
The National Salmonella Reference 
Laboratory at the Department of 
Bacteriology, Clinical Science Institute, 
NUI Galway, uses state-of-the-art 
genetic fingerprinting to characterise 
different types of Salmonella. This 
laboratory routinely receives samples of 
Salmonella for identification that have 
been isolated from the environment, 
food producing animals, food and 
humans. In mid-2008, the laboratory 
linked isolates of Salmonella Agona 
from humans to food produced at a 
specific food premises. This led to 
the identification of an international 
outbreak of foodborne illness involving 
eight countries and more than 160 
cases. A major recall of ready-to-eat 
foods was coordinated by the Authority 
which brought the outbreak to a close. 

A major target for the Authority is to 
lead in the reduction of salt levels 
in the Irish diet, given the health 
concerns over consuming excessive 
levels of salt. Working in partnership 
with the food industry, we have seen 
a gradual reduction in salt levels in 
processed and prepared foods over 
the past three years. A monitoring and 
verification programme carried out by 

47,449
In 2008, 47,449 food businesses were 
supervised by official agencies under 
service contract to the Authority.

The considerable investment over recent years in the national 
food safety control infrastructure in Ireland really paid dividends 
during 2008, as the country was faced by the most serious 
food crisis since BSE, when Irish pork was found to be 
contaminated with dioxins. At all times during this crisis, 
the protection of consumers’ health was top of the national 
agenda. As soon as the extent of the contamination became 
apparent, an inter-departmental crisis management group was 
established and chaired at the highest level of Government. 
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the Authority during the year showed 
a 12% reduction in the salt content 
of snack foods on the Irish market. 

The year 2008 also saw the roll out 
of the Authority’s Safe Catering Pack 
which was developed to address 
the needs of the catering sector, 
particularly the small businesses 
that are having difficulty meeting 
the requirements of the hygiene 
regulations. Training of environmental 
health officers on the operation of 
the pack has been completed and 
the programme will be available 
for the industry in 2009. 

Coordinating the enforcement of 
food regulations is the primary task 
of the Authority. In 2008, 47,449 food 
businesses were supervised by official 
agencies under service contract to the 
Authority. The first service contract with 
the Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority 
was agreed. This agency is responsible 
for official controls in about 2,500 
food establishments, production areas 
and fishing vessels. A new service 
contract was also agreed with the 
Health Service Executive in 2008, that 
will be effective from January 2009. 

The Food and Veterinary Office of the 
European Commission conducted a 
general audit in Ireland in 2008, under 
Regulation (EC) No 882/2004 on 
official controls performed to ensure 
the verification of compliance with feed 
and food law, animal health and animal 
welfare legislation. This comprised 
a review of controls in 11 different 
sectors across the food chain. Overall, 
the Food and Veterinary Office noted 
that there are good systems in most 
sectors, with the required legal powers 
and control systems in place. While 
some areas for improvement were 
identified, these are being addressed. 
The Authority also submitted an 
evaluation report to the Food and 
Veterinary Office on the multi-annual 
national food control plan, which 
evaluated and reported on controls 
across the food chain in Ireland. 

Collaboration at international level 
saw the Authority involved with the 
European Food Safety Authority 
and the World Health Organization. 
The Authority was nominated as 
the national Focal Point of the 
European Food Safety Authority. 
This European-wide Focal Point 
network was established to improve 
collaboration between food safety 
agencies and coordination of 
communications with risk assessment 
institutes in the Member States. 

Number of Staff Working  
in Official Food Control 

Under the FSAI Act, 1998, the 
Authority is responsible for enforcing 
food safety legislation in Ireland. The 
Authority’s legal remit, however, does 
not cover the entire food chain, as 
it does not extend to controls on 
animal feed, animal or plant health, 
animal welfare, or on farm activity.

With a staff of 85, it is necessary 
for the Authority to outsource food 
control and enforcement activities in 
order to supervise the 47,449 food 
businesses operating in Ireland. Official 
food controls are carried out, under 
service contract to the Authority, by 
various Government departments and 
State agencies. This arrangement 
means we have over 2,000 people 
working in official food controls; which 
involves carrying out inspections, 
taking samples, auditing and taking 
action when non-compliance with 
food legislation is identified.

The Authority’s role is to co-ordinate 
the activities of the official agencies 
to achieve the most effective use 
of State resources in protecting 
consumers’ health and interests where 
food is concerned. It does not fund 
the activities of the official agencies, 
except for the Local Authority 
Veterinary Service; the funding for 
which accounts for almost half of 
the Authority’s annual budget.

12%
A monitoring and verification programme 
carried out by Authority during  
the year showed a 12% reduction  
in the salt content of snack foods  
on the Irish market.

2,000
There are over 2,000 people working 
in official food controls; which involves 
carrying out inspections, taking samples, 
auditing and taking action when  
non-compliance with food legislation  
is identified.
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Staff Working in Official
Food Control in 2008
 Staff  
Agency (Whole Time Equivalent)

Food Safety Authority of Irelanda 85.30
Health Service Executive  528.06

(HSE – Environmental  
Health Serviceb) (375.90)
(HSE – Official Food  
Microbiology Laboratories) (80.66)
(HSE – Public Analyst’s  
Laboratories) (71.50)

Department of Agriculture,  
Fisheries and Foodc 462.71
Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority 46.75
31 Local Authoritiesd 76.35
Marine Institute 30.69
National Standards  
Authority of Ireland 0.10

Total 1,229.96

a: Does not include consultancy staff 
or staff on short-term contract.

b: This figure includes 310.8 environmental 
health officers and 65.1 administration staff.

c: This figure does not include 709 
temporary veterinary inspectors.

d: This figure includes 39.38 veterinary inspectors 
and 36.97 administration staff. It does not 
include 134 temporary veterinary inspectors.

Inspections of  
Food Establishments 

A total of 47,449 food businesses 
were operating in Ireland in 2008, 
performing a range of activities 
including slaughtering, manufacturing, 
distribution, retailing and food service. 
Under the food hygiene legislation, 
food businesses must be registered 
with an official agency, and in some 
cases, those handling products of 
animal origin must be approved. 

The official agency responsible, under 
service contract, for supervising a 
particular food business depends on 
the activities that business carries out. 

Four percent more food establishments were operating in Ireland in 2008 
compared to 2007. The Health Service Executive was responsible for 
supervising most of these additional establishments, and supervised 
1,716 more establishments in 2008 than in the previous year. 

Number of Food Establishments Supervised in 2008
Supervising Agency Number of Establishments 

Health Service Executive 43,926 
Sea-Fisheries Protection Authoritya 2,486 
Department of Agriculture,  
Fisheries and Food 627
Local Authorities 410

Total 47,449

a: This figure includes food establishments, fishing vessels and production areas.

Establishments Inspected by the Health Service Executive

Environmental health officers supervised 43,926 food businesses in 2008. Each 
food business is assigned a risk category according to the activities it carries 
out. The frequency of inspection is determined by the risk category assigned. 
This allows inspectors to prioritise inspecting establishments which pose the 
greatest potential risk to the population, should a food safety control failure occur. 
Planned inspections were carried out on 82% of establishments categorised 
as high risk, 70% of those categorised as medium risk and 29% of low risk 
establishments. In addition, environmental health officers monitored food activities 
at 219 outdoor events during the year; a 17% increase compared to 2007. 

These inspections exposed 18,169 infringements of food legislation. Nearly 
30% of establishments committed infringements, the main reasons for 
which were: general hygiene (50%) and risk assessment/HACCP (29%). 

Establishments Supervised by the Health Service Executive in 2008
    Number of 
    Establishments 
  Number of  Committing 
Business  Number of Establishments Number of Infringements 
Category Establishments Inspected (%) Inspections (% of those inspected)

Primary Producers 37 21 (57) 43 5 (24)
Manufacturers  
and Packers 1,370 940 (69) 1,443 197 (21)
Distributors  
and Transporters 1,249 665 (53) 1,101 110 (17)
Retailers 9,982 6,566 (66) 11,166 1,629 (25)
Service Sector 30,478 18,461 (61) 31,810 5,417 (29)
Manufacturers  
Selling Primarily  
on a Retail Basis 810 684 (84) 1,310 260 (38)

Total 43,926 27,337 (62) 46,873 7,618 (28)

2,762 
A total of 2,762 food safety complaints were investigated by environmental 
health officers on behalf of the Authority in 2008; an 11% reduction in 
complaints compared to 2007. The majority (54%) were complaints 
about food businesses, 24% were complaints about food, and 22% 
were complaints arising from suspected food poisoning. 
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Breakdown of Infringements in HSE-supervised Establishments in 2008 Establishments Inspected by 
the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

The Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food is responsible  
for supervising establishments which 
process foods of animal origin. In 
2008, Department inspectors were 
responsible for 627 food processing 
establishments. They carried out 
17,083 inspections which resulted 
in 506 legal notices being served for 
infringements of food legislation.

Establishments Supervised by the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food in 2008
    Number of  
   Number of Establishments Number of 
Division Establishment Type  Establishments Inspected (%) Inspections

Milk Processing Establishments with Limited Capacitya  93 64 (69) 136
 Approved Processing Establishments  55 43 (78) 102
 Off-site Storage Facilities  40 20 (50) 24
 Heat Treatment Establishments  19 19 (100) 230
 Milk Purchasers  18 6 (33) 7
 Approved Collection Centres  4 3 (75) 3
 Infant Formula Establishments  4 4 (100) 12

 Total  233 159 (68) 514

Egg and  Free Range Egg Producers  122 122 (100) 410
Poultry Meatb Egg Packers  59 59 (100) 145
 Free Range Poultry Producers  46 46 (100) 100
 Barn Egg Production Units  4 4 (100) 5
 Bakeries Recorded as HSE-supervised premises 52
 Retailers/Wholesalers/Distributors/Egg Depots Recorded as HSE-supervised premises 2,535
 Hospitals/Nursing Homes Recorded as HSE-supervised premises 94

 Total  231 231 (100) 3,341

Meat  Meat Products Establishments  56 56 (100) 1,958
 Slaughtering Establishments  
 (Including Farmed Game and Poultry Slaughtering)  51 51 (100) 334
 Cold Stores  26 26 (100) 795
 Cutting Establishments  
 (Stand Alone and those Attached to Slaughterhouses)c  19 19 (100) 9,402
 Minced Meat and Meat Preparations Establishments  10 10 (100) 728
 Egg Products Establishmentsd  1 1 (100) 11

 Total  163 163 (100) 13,228

Overall Total   627 553 (88) 17,083

a: Processing establishments with processing capacity less than or equal to 500,000 L of milk per year.
b: Bakeries, hospitals, retailers and wholesalers/distributors/egg depots are under dual supervision with the Health Service Executive (HSE)  

and recorded as HSE-supervised establishments.
c: Figure includes four establishments handling wild game.
d: For operational reasons, one egg product establishment is supervised by inspectors from the Veterinary Public Health Inspection Service.

1,356
In 2008, environmental health officers were 
involved in investigating 1,356 suspect food 
poisoning incidents (1,252 sporadic incidents 
and 104 outbreaks) affecting 2,036 people. 

Contamination 1.2%

Labelling and Presentation 7.5%
Other 1.9%

Composition 0.3%

General Hygiene 50.2%
Risk Assessment 
and/or HACCP 29.0%
Hygiene Training 9.9%

Contamination 1.2%

Labelling and Presentation 7.5%
Other 1.9%

Composition 0.3%

General Hygiene 50.2%
Risk Assessment 
and/or HACCP 29.0%
Hygiene Training 9.9%



Protocol One

Risk  
Assessment

and international risk assessment 
forums. This ensures that the views 
of Ireland are represented and that 
the risk assessment techniques 
employed by the Authority gain 
from new developments and 
information at an international level. 

8
8 Scientific Committee sub-committees 
and working groups.

65
65 scientists in the Authority’s  
scientific advisory structure.

Overview

Rapid risk assessment is crucial 
whenever a hazard is identified in 
food. It follows a standard process 
that is designed to identify the 
harm that the hazard can pose and 
then seeks to qualify or quantify 
the probability of the risk impacting 
on public health. Risk assessment 
can be proactive or reactive. 

Proactively, the Authority seeks 
to continually assess the risks of 
microbiological, chemical or physical 
hazards occurring in the food chain. 
This is carried out through the 
Authority’s Scientific Committee 
structure, which results in reports that 
document assessments of potential 
risk areas and make recommendations 
for risk management options. 

During food incidents, risk assessment 
is reactive and is part of the incident 
management protocols used by the 
Authority. In such circumstances, the 
Authority assesses risks based on the 
knowledge of its scientific staff and 
their contact networks throughout 
academia and European food safety 
institutions such as the European 
Food Safety Authority. Scientific staff 
in the Authority participate in national 

Year in Review10

Key Facts
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Establishments Inspected 
by Local Authorities

Local authority veterinary inspectors 
supervise low-throughput 
slaughterhouses; establishments 
producing small quantities of 
fresh meat, minced meat, meat 
preparations or meat products; 
cold stores/distribution centres; and 
meat transport vehicles associated 
with these establishments. 

A list of all meat establishments 
approved by the local authorities 
is posted on the Authority’s 
website. At the end of 2008, 397 
establishments were approved 
under EC and national legislation. 

Approved Food Establishments under 
Local Authority Supervision, 2008

In 2008, 13,766 hygiene inspections were carried out in local authority-supervised 
establishments: 10,472 in slaughter houses; 2,699 in small meat manufacturing 
plants; and 595 in food vehicles. Through the course of these inspections, 12 
major non-compliances were detected in small meat manufacturing plants and 
seven were detected in slaughter houses. These non-compliances were fully 
investigated by the inspectors at the time and remedial action was carried out  
by the food business operators.

Establishments, Fishing Vessels and Production Areas 
Inspected by the Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority

In 2008, sea-fisheries protection officers supervised 2,486 food establishments, 
production areas and fishing vessels. Officers carried out 2,217 inspections,  
from which they took 11 legal actions. This compares to three legal actions  
taken in 2007.

Supervision by the Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority in 2008
  Number Number of 
Type Number Inspected (%) Inspections Carried Out

Fishing Vessels  2,039 135 (7) 192
Approved Establishments  
(Fish and Fishery Products) 174 161 (93) 224
Molluscan Production Areas 150 150 (100) 1,761
Aquaculture Sites – Fin Fish 82 12 (15) 14
Refrigerated Sea Water Vessels 23 9 (39) 12
Ice Plants 13 10 (77) 10
Factory Vessels 5 3 (60) 4

Total 2,486 480 (19) 2,217

Under Regulation (EC) No 853/2004, certain establishments must be approved, 
e.g. auction halls and establishments involved in the production of fish and fishery 
products or live bivalve molluscs. In 2008, the Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority 
was responsible for all 174 approved fish and fishery products establishments.  
In total, 86 approved establishments were categorised as high risk, 38 as medium 
risk and 50 as low risk. Ninety eight percent of high risk establishments, 89%  
of medium risk establishments and 86% of low risk establishments were 
inspected in 2008. 

Small Meat Manufacturing 
Plants (inc. Cold Storage) 175

Slaughterhouses 222

The Authority received the prestigious World 
Health Organization (WHO) Food Safety 
Award from the WHO in Geneva in 2008 in 
recognition of its international contribution 
in promoting food safety globally. The WHO 
Food Safety Award recognises exceptional 
efforts in addressing food safety problems and 
outstanding contribution in the promotion of 
human health through food safety. This is only 
the second time the WHO has presented this 
award. Pictured at the WHO Awards ceremony 
are (l-r): Dr David L. Heymann, WHO and Prof 
Alan Reilly, Food Safety Authority of Ireland.

13,766 
In 2008, 13,766 hygiene inspections 
were carried out in local authority-
supervised establishments.
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Factory vessels are also required to be 
approved and, in 2008, all fi ve factory 
vessels were approved by the Sea-
Fisheries Protection Authority. During 
2008, the Sea-Fisheries Protection 
Authority undertook the process of 
registering the 2,062 fi shing vessels 
and refrigerated sea water vessels, 
and intends to register ice plants and 
aquaculture sites for fi n fi sh in 2009.

Establishments Inspected 
by the National Standards 
Authority of Ireland

In Ireland, three establishments are 
approved for the recognition and 
exploitation (bottling and placing on 
the market) of natural mineral water. 
The National Standards Authority 
of Ireland is responsible for the 
recognition of natural mineral water 
in Ireland, which involves inspecting 
the establishments and conducting 
microbiological and chemical sampling 
to verify compliance with legislation. 

In 2008, eleven inspections were 
conducted in these three natural 
mineral water plants as part of the 
recognition process. All natural mineral 
water plants were issued with revised 
conditions of exploitation to refl ect 
new EC Regulations and national 
legislation (S.I. No. 225 of 2007). 
All three establishments retained 
their certifi cation for recognition of 
natural mineral water during 2008. 

Inspections of Food Animals 

In accordance with national and EU 
law, all animals slaughtered for human 
consumption must be inspected before 
and after slaughter. During 2008, 
inspectors from the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food and the 
local authorities inspected 80,358,510 
animals at the time of slaughter. 

A veterinary inspector is permanently 
based in slaughterhouses supervised 
by the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food. Nearly 80,000,000 
animals were inspected at slaughter 
in these slaughterhouses; a similar 
number to 2007. Poultry accounted 
for 92% of the animals inspected. 

Inspection of Animals at
Slaughterhouses Supervised by
the Department of Agriculture,
Fisheries and Food in 2008
Animal Number Inspected

Poultry 73,170,217
Sheep 2,593,869
Pigs 2,510,551
Cattle 1,579,538
Wild Game 67,309
Equines 2,002
Farmed Game 1,132

Total 79,924,618

Local authority veterinary inspectors 
paid 23,541 visits to the 226 
slaughterhouses for the purpose of 
carrying out inspections on animals 
before and after slaughter. Over 
400,000 animals were inspected, of 
which 0.08% were rejected due to non-
compliance identifi ed at inspection. 
The majority (72%) of animals 
inspected in local authority supervised 
slaughterhouses were sheep. 

Inspection of Animals at
Slaughterhouses Supervised
by Local Authorities in 2008
 Number Number
Animal Inspected Rejected (%)

Sheep 311,192 152 (0.05)
Cattle 74,627 197 (0.26)
Pigs 47,811 1 (0.002)
Deer and Goats 262 0

Total 433,892 350 (0.08)

80,358,510 
During 2008, veterinary inspectors from the 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Food and the local authorities inspected 
80,358,510 food animals at the time 
of slaughter.

The Authority published the third edition of 
the Compendium of Food Law in Ireland, 
which brings together all food legislation 
up to 15 May 2008. The compendium acts 
as a reference and guide to the various 
acts, regulations and orders made at 
national level, as well as those directives 
and regulations made at EU level. Given 
that food legislation continues to be 
adapted and amended, this legislation 
is also published on the Authority’s 
website, where it is regularly updated.
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Inspections of Food 

During 2008, inspectors from 
the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food’s veterinary 
public health division inspected 
289,977,203 kilograms of meat 
products in establishments under 
their supervision. This was a 21% 
increase on the amount of meat 
product inspected in 2007.

Inspection of Meat by the
Department of Agriculture,
Fisheries and Food in 2008
Meat Product Amount (kg)

Pig Meat 151,610,815
Beef 74,708,089
Poultry 58,986,049
Sheep Meat 4,672,087
Wild Game 163

Total 289,977,203

Imported Food 

The Customs and Excise Service of the 
Revenue Commissioners, works with 
the Health Service Executive and the 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Food with regards to controls 
on imported food. The Customs and 
Excise Service notifies the Health 
Service Executive of the arrival of foods 
of non-animal origin that are subject to 
EU emergency measures or which are 
found to be suspect during random 
documentary, identity and physical 
checks by Customs officials. Similarly, 
it works with inspectors from the 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Food in relation to notification and 
clearance of products of animal origin. 

Consignments of food of animal origin 
from Third countries will be inspected 
at Ireland’s two designated border 
inspection posts – Dublin Port and 
Shannon Airport – if they are entering 
the EU for the first time thorough these 
ports. Many consignments entering 
Ireland will have already been cleared 
for circulation within the EU at another 
EU country’s border inspection post. 

In 2008, 1,347 consignments of food of animal origin, totalling 30,945,202 kg, 
were inspected at Ireland’s two border inspection posts. Inspections resulted 
in 23 consignments being rejected for public health reasons, i.e. documentary 
(15); identity (6) or physical (2). Eleven of the rejected consignments were 
returned, eleven destroyed and one was put to alternative use. Forty eight 
percent of rejections were consignments of milk and milk products. Of these 
11 rejected consignments, four were returned and seven were destroyed.

Inspections of Imports of Foods of Animal Origin
at Irish Border Inspection Posts in 2008
 Number of  Number of Rejections  
 Consignments Net Weight for Public Health 
Type of Food  Inspected (kg) Reasons (%)

Meat and Meat Products 818 13,335,766 6 (0.7)
Fish and Fishery Productsa 367 3,941,167 3 (0.8)
Milk and Milk Products 88 12,353,069 11 (13)
Other 74 1,315,200 3 (4)

Total 1,347 30,945,202 23 (2)

a: In addition to the 367 imports of fish and fishery products from Third countries, sea-fisheries 
protection officers at border inspection posts also inspected 48 transport vehicles and 88 
consignments from landing and first sale.

A further 7,560 checks on imports of foods of non-animal origin were carried out 
by environmental health officers at Dublin (Port and Airport) and Cork Port. These 
inspections also resulted in the rejection of 23 consignments (0.3%): 19 as part 
of EU emergency/safeguard decisions; and four as part of routine import control 
activities.

Inspections of Imports of Foods of Non-animal Origin in 2008
Reason Number of  Number of 
for Inspection Consignments Inspected Consignments Rejected (%)

Routine Controls 6,967 4 (0.1)
EU Emergency/Safeguard Decisions 593 19 (3.2)

Total 7,560 23 (0.3)

Organic Food 

Ireland’s organic inspection system is operated by organic certification 
bodies, approved by the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. 
In 2008, two private certification bodies were approved – the Organic 
Trust and the Irish Organic Farmers and Growers Association. 

The certification bodies inspect organic operators at least once a year. In 
2008, 1,427 inspections of organic operators were carried out, from which 
16 irregularities were identified. The main areas of non-compliance were 
poor record keeping on farm and inadequate housing space for animals, 
processor records incomplete, and derogations not sought for the use of 
restricted products or practices. For deviations such as these, the operator 
is sent an advisory note as it is not appropriate to impose a penalty. 

21% 
This was a 21% increase on 
the amount of meat product 
inspected in 2007.

1,347 
At Ireland’s border inspection 
posts, 1,347 consignments of 
food of animal origin, totalling 
30,945,202 kg, were inspected.
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In order to ensure that Ireland’s 
organic inspection and certification 
system complies with EU 
Regulations, inspectors from the 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Food’s organic division carry 
out further inspections on 5% of 
organic operators. In 2008, 68 
such inspections were carried 
out, and no irregularities with the 
organic operators were found. 

These inspectors also performed 1,254 
inspections of retail outlets; including 
farmers’ markets, supermarkets and 
health shops. Follow-up action was 
required in 108 cases. The findings 
generally related to non-adherence 
to organic labelling requirements, 
rather than the identification of 
conventional food as organic. 

Number of Enforcements 
Served 

Under the Food Safety Authority of 
Ireland Act, 1998, food business 
operators who are found to be in 
breach of food safety legislation 
may be issued with an Improvement 
Notice, an Improvement Order, a 
Prohibition Order or a Closure Order. 
In addition, various specific pieces of 
food legislation also give authorised 
officers the power to prosecute or to 
carry out other enforcement activities.

A total of 260 Enforcement Orders 
were served in 2008, continuing 
a steady decline in the number of 
Orders issued on food establishments 
in Ireland. In 2008, 82% (214) of 
enforcements were Improvement 
Notices, 13% (34) were Closure 
Orders, 2% (6) were Improvement 
Orders and 2% (6) were Prohibition 
Orders. Enforcement Orders 
and prosecutions are posted 
on the Authority’s website.

Number of Enforcements 
Served Under the FSAI Act 
Between 2004 and 2008

As the Health Service Executive 
supervised most food establishments 
in 2008, it is not unexpected that 
96% of enforcements served under 
the FSAI Act, were by this agency.

Breakdown of Enforcements Issued 
Under the FSAI Act in 2008

Thirty four Closure Orders were 
served in 2008 – three fewer than in 
2007. All were served by the Health 
Service Executive. Sixty two percent 
of Closure Orders were served on 
establishments in the service sector 
and 29% on retailers, with most 
of the Closure Orders served on 
restaurants/canteens (24%) and 
take-aways (18%). During 2008, the 
Authority worked on developing the 
Safe Catering Pack, to assist food 
business such as these implement 
food safety management systems.

Closure Orders Served under
the FSAI Act in 2008
  Number of 
  Closure 
Business Nature of Orders 
Category Business Served

Distributors/ 
Transporters Wholesale 1

Manufacturers/ 
Packers Bakery 1
 Delicatessen 1

Retailers Grocery 5
 Supermarket 2
 Food Stall: Chilled  
 Foods/High-risk Foods 2
 Butcher: Raw and  
 Ready-to-Eat Foods 1

Service Sector Restaurant/Canteen 8
 Take-away 6
 Public House: 
 Serving Food 4
 Public House: 
 Not Serving Food 2
 Food Stall: Chip Van 1

Total  34
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Closure Order
Prohibition Order
Improvement Order
Improvement Notice

Local Authority 8

Sea-Fisheries Protection 
Authority 2

Health Service Executive 250

260 
Under the FSAI Act, 260 Enforcement 
Orders were served in 2008, continuing 
a steady decline in the number of Orders 
issued on food establishments in Ireland.
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Protocol Two

The team will then co-ordinate the 
necessary action to manage and 
resolve the crisis, and prepare briefing 
documentation for risk communication. 

Overview

The Authority’s incident management 
strategy provides for 24-hour, 
seven day week controls that are 
necessary to provide the highest 
level of protection for consumers. 
The scope of the strategy is to 
facilitate a seamless, local, national 
and international response to a food 
incident. It provides for coordinated 
management between the Authority, 
the official agencies, the food industry 
and consumers. Protocols have 
been developed to ensure concise 
and timely communication with all 
stakeholders during a food incident.

The strategy also provides for the 
Authority’s crisis management team 
to be established in the event of a 
major food incident. If the crisis plan 
is activated, then staff assigned to 
the crisis team work solely on the 
food incident for its duration. The 
role of this team is to rapidly respond 
to a serious risk to public health. 
The team operates to a pre-planned 
process that is designed to review 
and evaluate the available information; 
initiate a risk assessment and agree 
a strategy for dealing with the crisis. 

Incident 
Management

68
68 cross-country food incidents  
managed by the Authority in 2008.

291
291 food incidents managed  
by the Authority in 2008.

Key Facts
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A total of 506 legal actions were taken 
by the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food in 2008, under food 
hygiene or marketing legislation. Dairy 
inspectors issued 62 legal notices, 
which was double the number served 
in 2007. The majority of notices in 
2008 were served on farmhouse 
cheese establishments. In order to 
address this, the Authority began work, 
in collaboration with cheesemakers 
and Teagasc, to develop a HACCP 
workbook for this sector. 

There was a 151% increase in legal 
notices served by the Department 
of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food 
on meat establishments, with 
342 legal notices served in 2008 
compared to 136 in 2007. The 
dioxin crisis in December 2008, 
where 72 legal notices were served, 
contributed to this large increase. 

The egg and poultry meat inspectorate, 
however, took 14% fewer legal actions 
in 2008 compared to 2007. These 
inspectors are responsible for ensuring 
compliance with legislation on hygiene 
and on marketing standards. As 
the result of inspections, 102 legal 
actions were taken on establishments 
dealing with eggs or poultry meat, 
compared to 118 actions in 2007. 

Direct Enforcement 
by the Authority

The Authority is directly involved in 
enforcement and/or assessment 
and notifi cation activities related 
to food additives, ionising radiation 
of food, novel food, genetically 
modifi ed food, foods for particular 
nutritional uses (PARNUTS), dietary 
food for special medical purposes 
(medical food), food supplements 
and materials and articles intended 
to come into contact with foodstuffs.

Novel Food

The Authority is the competent 
authority for implementing novel 
food legislation in Ireland. A food or 
food ingredient that does not have 
a signifi cant history of consumption 
within the EU before 15 May 1997 
falls within the scope of the novel 
food Regulation (EC) No 258/97. A 
novel food ingredient may also be 
placed on the EU market where a 
Member State’s competent authority 
considers it to be substantially 
equivalent to an existing ingredient.

Novel Food Safety Assessments 
Carried Out by the Authority in 2008

Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA) – Lipid 
Nutrition BV. The Authority issued 

a positive opinion on the safety of 
CLA for use in certain foods. As a 
reasoned objection was raised by 
a Member State, this dossier was 
referred to the European Food Safety 
Authority for further assessment.

Psyllium Seed Husk (PSH) – Kellogg 
Company. The Authority concluded 
that PSH was a safe ingredient, but 
the application did not proceed any 
further, as it was discovered to have 
been on the EU market in Sweden 
prior to 1997, and was therefore, 
outside the scope of novel food. 

Ferrous Ammonium Phosphate 
(FAP) – Nestec Ltd. and Synthetic 
Lycopene – DMS Nutritional 
Products. The Authority concluded 
that these applications required 
further assessment.

Other Member States’ Safety 
Assessments Reviewed by 
the Authority in 2008

The Authority reviewed seven 
safety assessments carried out 
by the Competent Authorities of 
other Member States. Cis-9-Cetyl 
Myristoleate (Myrisana) – the Authority 
agreed with the Italian Authority that a 
further assessment by the European 
Food Safety Authority was required. 
DHA rich algal oil from Schizochytrium 

The Authority published six editions of its 
bi-monthly newsletter, fsainews in 2008, 
which is distributed to a wide audience by 
post and email. The postal distribution list 
for the newsletter was over 4,600, with an 
additional 1,600 e-zine versions distributed 
by email through the online subscription 
service on the Authority’s website.

151% 
The dioxin crisis contributed to the 
151% increase in legal notices served 
on meat establishments in 2008, 
with 342 legal notices served, as 
compared to 136 in the previous year.
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sp. – the Authority agreed with the 
positive opinion of UK and had no 
objection to the marketing of this 
product. Lactoferrin – the Authority 
agreed with the positive opinion of the 
Belgian Authority and had no objection 
to the marketing of this product. 
TonalinÒTG-80 (conjugated linoleic 
acid triglycerides – CLA) – the Authority 
did not comment on this application 
or initial assessment due to its own 
safety assessment of a similar product 
around the same time. Lyc-O-MatoÒ 
lycopene oleoresin from tomatoes 
(tomato extract with lycopene) – the 
Authority agreed with the positive 
opinion of the Dutch Authority and 
had no objection to the marketing of 
this product. Lycopene from Blakeslea 
trispora: cold water dispersible 
products – the Authority agreed with 
the opinion of UK Authority that further 
assessment was required. Policosanol 
– the Authority agreed with the opinion 
of the Belgian Authority that further 
assessment was required, particularly 
in relation to potential intake ranges.

Substantial Equivalence Opinions 
Issued by the Authority in 2008

The Authority concluded that 
Glucosamine HCl, Glucosamine 
KCl and Glucosamine NaCl from 
Aspergillus niger for use in food 
supplements were substantially 
equivalent to the shellfish counterpart.

PARNUTS

Foods for particular nutritional uses 
(PARNUTS) are foods which must fulfil 
the particular nutritional requirements 
of: (1) certain categories of persons 
whose digestive processes or 
metabolism are disturbed; (2) certain 
categories of persons who are in a 
special physiological condition and 
who are therefore able to obtain special 
benefit from controlled consumption 
of certain substances in foodstuffs; 
or (3) infants or young children in 
good health. The general provisions 
which apply to PARNUTS are set out 
in the Framework Council Directive 
89/398/EEC (S.I. 579 of 2006).

Under the Framework Directive, 
specific provisions applicable to 
certain groups of PARNUTS have 
been, or will be, laid down in specific 
legislation, i.e. (1) infant formulae and 
follow-on formulae; (2) processed 
cereal based foods and baby foods for 
infants and young children; (3) foods 
intended for use in energy restricted 
diets for weight reduction; (4) dietary 
foods for special medical purposes; 
and (5) foods intended to meet the 
expenditure of intense muscular 
effort, especially for sports people. 
Under Article 9 of Directive 89/398/
EEC, PARNUTS outside these five 
categories must be notified to the 
competent authority when they are 
placed on the Irish market for the first 
time. Other specific pieces of legislation 
also stipulate that certain food 
products placed on the Irish market 
for the first time must be notified in 
order to ensure efficient monitoring. 

In 2008, the Authority received 44 
notifications for general PARNUTS, 
116 notifications for foods for 
special medical purposes, and four 
notifications for infant formulae. 
Under the notification procedure, 
the food business operator must 
submit a completed notification 
form (available from the Authority’s 
website), a label of the product and 
any other supplementary information 
to the Authority for assessment. The 
food is then assessed for compliance 
against the relevant legislation. 

Food Supplements

Directive 2002/46/EC and S.I. No. 
506 of 2007 set out requirements for 
the composition and labelling of food 
supplements. A food supplement is 
regulated by the Authority, unless by 
virtue of its composition, concentration, 
or the presence of a medicinal claim, 
the product is considered a medicine, 
and is therefore under the remit of 
the Irish Medicines Board. Under 
the food supplements legislation, a 
food business operator must notify 
the Authority of their intention to 
place a food supplement on the Irish 
market for the first time. In 2008, a 
total of 577 food supplements were 
notified to the Authority. Twenty-
eight of these were referred to the 
Irish Medicines Board, as they were 
considered medicinal products.

577 
A total of 577 food supplements 
were notified to the Authority. Twenty-
eight of these were referred to the 
Irish Medicines Board, as they were 
considered medicinal products.
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Prosecutions 

Twenty eight prosecutions, under food 
hygiene legislation, were enforced 
in 2008. The majority of which were 
restaurants/canteens (29%) or 
take-away food premises (14%). All 
of these prosecutions were made 
by the Health Service Executive.

Prosecutions in 2008

The Authority also supported the Local Authority Veterinary Service in 
its investigation and prosecution of a meat company for breaches of 
labelling legislation. Directors of the company entered pleas of guilty 
to three charges, admitting they supplied non-Irish products to their 
customers with labelling which indicated their origins were Irish. The 
District Court applied the benefi t of the Probation Act to the company 
and the two directors, who agreed to make donations to charity.

Food Testing 

In 2008, the Authority continued to monitor the safety of food in the 
Irish food chain. Routine and targeted examination of a range of 
foodstuffs was conducted in order to check for contamination, or 
to verify compliance with legislation, or both. Samples of a range of 
foodstuffs were collected by staff of the offi cial agencies, or the Authority, 
and analysed at various laboratories throughout the country. 

Microbiological Testing

In 2008, 13,614 samples were submitted for microbiological analysis to 
the seven offi cial food microbiological laboratories of the Health Service 
Executive. These samples were collected as part of routine (62%) or complaint 
(8%) investigations of food establishments supervised by the Health Service 
Executive, or in connection with the National Microbiological Surveillance 
Programme (30%) where particular foods were targeted. Ready-to-eat 
foods accounted for 60% of samples and 40% were non-ready-to-eat, 
or foods for which the ready-to-eat status was not reported.

The 9,484 samples collected during routine and complaint 
sampling were categorised according to EU category codes. The 
majority of complaint (62%) and routine samples (35%) were in 
the category ‘meat and meat products, game and poultry’.

28 
Under food hygiene legislation, 
28 prosecutions were enforced 
in 2008.

Restaurant/Canteen 8
Take-away 4
Public House Serving Food 3
Supermarket 3
Food Stall (Cooked Meats) 2
Bakery (Flour Products Only) 2
Chip Van 1
Butcher/Poulterer (Raw Meats Only) 1
Butcher (Mixed Products) 1
Not Stated 3

To refl ect the multicultural nature of the Irish take-
away food industry today, the guidance booklet, 
Safe Food to Go, was updated in 2008 and is 
now available in English, Chinese, Czech, Polish, 
Latvian, Lithuanian, Romanian and Russian. 
Safe Food to Go promotes and advises on best 
hygiene and food handling practices for food-
to-go businesses. It highlights the importance of 
following a set of strict guidelines when preparing 
and handling food to go. It is of particular interest 
to owners, managers and staff of take-away 
outlets and forecourt garages supplying food 
and any retailer providing ready-to-eat meals.
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Samples Submitted to the Offi cial Food Microbiology
Laboratories of the Health Service Executive in 2008 
 Percent of Samples
EU Category Routine (Total 8,394) Complaint (Total 1,090)

Dairy Products 6.31 4.40
Egg and Egg Products 5.55 3.03
Meat and Meat Products, Game and Poultry 35.01 61.83
Fish, Shellfi sh and Molluscs 5.30 5.96
Soups, Broths and Sauces 5.06 4.04
Cereals and Bakery Products 4.92 3.21
Fruit and Vegetables 2.76 3.76
Herbs and Spices 0.19 0.55
Non-alcoholic Beverages 1.33 1.83
Ices and Desserts 2.06 1.01
Cocoa and Cocoa Preparations, Coffee and Tea 0.19 0
Confectionery 0.21 0.09
Nuts and Nut Products, Snacks 0.18 0.37
Prepared Dishes 30.12 8.72
Foodstuffs Intended for Special Nutritional Uses 0.68 0.73
Others 0.11 0.46

Total 100 100

Overall, 61,750 microbiological tests were carried out on routine and complaint 
samples; of these 38,577 were categorised according to the microbiological 
criteria specifi ed in Regulation (EC) No 2073/2005, or the Authority’s Guidance 
Note No. 3. Ninety six percent of results were satisfactory, 2% acceptable, 
1% unsatisfactory and 0.8% unacceptable/potentially hazardous. 

During 2008, the Authority was awarded a Quality Assurance Agreement 
Parchment by the Further Education and Training Awards Council 
(FETAC) as recognition that it can offer programmes leading to FETAC 
awards at levels one to six of the national framework of qualifi cations. 
The Authority currently awards FETAC certifi cates to in-company 
trainers and managers in the food industry who attend its level fi ve 
FETAC certifi ed Food Safety Training Skills Workshop. Attendance at 
this 2-day workshop certifi es trainers to deliver the Authority’s Food 
Safety and You induction training programme. The Food Safety and You 
induction programme is designed for employees at induction level in 
all sectors of the food industry, it is unique, in that it takes three hours 
to deliver, involves close liaison between management and staff, and 
accommodates people with language or literacy diffi culties.

Tests for Enterobacteriaceae and 
total E. coli count are carried out 
on ready-to-eat food in order to 
indicate problems such as poor 
hygiene practices, poor process 
control, or the possible presence 
of pathogens. In 2008, 8.7% of 
samples were unsatisfactory for 
Enterobacteriaceae and 1.2% of 
samples were unsatisfactory for 
E. coli. This was a slight improvement 
on 2007, where 9.4% and 1.4% were 
unsatisfactory for Enterobacteriaceae 
and E. coli, respectively.

When tested for pathogens, 26 
results (0.07%) were categorised as 
unacceptable/potentially hazardous 
– the majority of which were from 
meat or meat products. This was a 
slight increase on 2007, where 11 
results (0.03%) were categorised as 
unacceptable/potentially hazardous.

61,750 
61,750 microbiological tests were 
carried out on routine and complaint 
samples submitted to the offi cial 
food microbiology laboratories of 
the Health Service Executive.
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Categorisation of Routine and Complaint Microbiology Test Results by Bacteria in 2008
  Percent of Test Results Categorisedb as:
  Number of    Unacceptable/ 
 Indicator or Results    Potentially 
Test Pathogen Categoriseda Satisfactory Acceptable Unsatisfactory Hazardous

Enterobacteriaceae Indicator 4,038 74.49 16.84 8.67 NA
Escherichia coli (Total) Indicator 6,194 97.61 1.16 1.23 NA
Salmonella spp. Pathogen 6,548 99.88 NA NA 0.12
Campylobacter spp. Pathogen 848 100 NA NA 0.00
E. coli O157 Pathogen 75 98.67 NA NA 1.33
Listeria monocytogenes Pathogen 6,121 99.92 NA NA 0.08
Coagulase-positive staphylococci Pathogen 6,230 97.96 0.91 1.04 0.08
Clostridium perfringens Pathogen 5,512 99.67 0.24 0.09 0.00
Bacillus cereus and other  
pathogenic Bacillus spp. Pathogen 3,011 98.77 0.73 0.27 0.23

Total  38,577 96.42 2.19 1.31 0.07

a: Results where categorised either according to the limits specified 
in Regulation (EC) No 2073/2005 or, in the absence of a legal limit, 
according to the Authority’s Guidance Note No. 3 on microbiological 
guidelines for ready-to-eat food. 

b: For each of the four categories the following applies:
−  The ‘satisfactory’ category means satisfactory according to the limits 

specified in Regulation (EC) No 2073/2005 or those specified in the 
Authority’s Guidance Note No. 3. 

NA:  not applicable

−  The ‘acceptable’ category means acceptable according to the  
limits specified in the Authority’s Guidance Note No. 3. 

−  The ‘unsatisfactory’ category means unsatisfactory according  
to the limits specified in the Authority’s Guidance Note No. 3.

−  The ‘unacceptable/potentially hazardous’ category means 
unsatisfactory according to the limits specified in Regulation (EC)  
No 2073/2005, or unacceptable/potentially hazardous according  
to the limits in the Authority’s Guidance Note No. 3.

Categorisation of Microbiological 
Test Results in 2008*

Foods Where Results were Categorised 
as Unacceptable/Potentially Hazardous*
Test Number of Samples Food 
  (Number of Samples)

Salmonella spp. 8 Beef steaks (6)
  Bacon (2)

Bacillus cereus and other pathogenic Bacillus spp. 7 Potato & leek soup (1)
  Pasta tuna nicoise (1)
  Rice (1)
  Fried rice (1)
  Boiled rice (1)
  Sliced pork (1)
  Egg fried rice (1)

Listeria monocytogenes 5 RTE ham (1)
  RTE duck (1)
  RTE corned beef (1)
  Boiled rice (1)
  Hard cheese (1)

Coagulase-positive staphylococci 5 Grated cheese (3)
  Breaded brie (1)
  Plain chicken sandwich (1)

E. coli O157 1 Cooked, sliced ham (1)

Total 26 
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1.7% 
Salmonella spp. were detected 
in 1.7% samples of raw pork 
sausages on retail sale that were 
collected during a national survey.

*  Tests carried out by the Official Food Microbiology Laboratories of the Health Service Executive.

RTE: ready-to-eat.
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National Microbiological Surveillance Programme

Over 4,000 samples were submitted to the official food microbiology laboratories 
of the Health Service Executive in connection with the National Microbiological 
Surveillance Programme. Sausages, ice-cream, poultry packaging and display 
cabinets, and high risk foods from farmers’ markets were targeted in the 2008 
programme.

Sampling Plan for the National Microbiological Surveillance Programme in 2008
Samples Collected Topic Microbiological Tests 

January – April Prevalence of Salmonella spp. 
 in pork sausages Salmonella spp.

May – August Microbiological quality of whipped  Aerobic colony count
 and scoop ice-cream Enterobacteriaceae

September – December Sampling of surface of poultry packaging  Campylobacter spp.
 and examination of handling and cleaning  Salmonella spp.
 practices in poultry meat display cabinets 

January – December Microbiological status of high risk  Samples to be analysed
 ready-to-eat foods from farmers’  for appropriate
 markets microbiological parameters

The first national survey examined the prevalence of Salmonella spp. in raw pork 
sausages on retail sale in the Republic of Ireland. Salmonellae were detected in 
1.7% (19/1,098) of samples and three serovars were identified: S. Typhimurium 
(17); S. Brandenburg (1); and S. Bredeney (1). Environmental health officers 
requested the withdrawal of the contaminated batch if it was still on the market. 
The key to consumer health protection lies in the control of salmonellae in the 
national pig herd and the implementation of hygienic slaughter practices. As it is 
not uncommon for pathogenic bacteria to be present in raw meat, it is essential to 
educate consumers on good practices for handling, cooking and cooling meat.

The aim of the ice-cream survey was to assess the microbiological quality 
of whipped and scoop ice-cream on retail sale in the Republic of Ireland, 
and to determine whether the microbiological quality of whipped ice-
cream improved since the 2001 national survey. In total, 34% (290/854) 
of all ice-cream samples were unsatisfactory for aerobic colony count, 
and 8% (67/859) were unsatisfactory for Enterobacteriaceae. 

The type of ice-cream had a weak, statistically significant effect on the 
microbiological results – over one third (228/643) of whipped ice-cream samples 
were unsatisfactory for aerobic colony count and/or Enterobacteriaceae, 
compared to one fifth (19/86) of scoop ice-cream samples. There was a strong, 
statistically significant improvement in the aerobic colony count results of 
whipped ice-cream sampled in 2008, compared with 2001, but no significant 
difference in the Enterobacteriaceae results. The improvement in aerobic 
colony count results may be influenced by the fact that more food businesses 
used self-pasteurising machines in 2008 (84%) than in 2001 (73%).

The aim of the farmers’ markets 
survey was to provide baseline data 
on the microbiological status of 
high risk, ready-to-eat foods sold 
at farmers’ markets. Participation 
in this survey was voluntary, with 
details subject to local agreement 
between environmental health 
officers and the laboratories.

A total of 82 food samples, such 
as hummus, chutney, cheese, ice-
cream, cheesecake, seafood, salads, 
bread, soup, and quiche were 
analysed. Regarding key pathogenic 
microorganisms, all samples were 
satisfactory for Listeria monocytogenes 
(80), Salmonella spp. (82) and 
Campylobacter spp. (2). Furthermore, 
all samples were either satisfactory 
or acceptable for Bacillus spp. (60), 
Clostridium perfringens (56) and 
coagulase positive staphylococci (80). 

The results of the poultry survey are not 
currently available, but will be published 
on the Authority’s website in 2009. 

Central Meat Control Laboratory

In 2008, the Central Meat Control 
Laboratory carried out microbiological 
analysis on 5,054 samples collected 
by inspectors from the Department 
of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food 
during the course of their inspections 
of meat establishments – 98% of 
these test results were satisfactory. 

5,054 
The Central Meat Control Laboratory 
carried out microbiological analysis 
on 5,054 samples; 98% of which 
had satisfactory results.



enables the Authority to notify other 
Member States of a food incident 
emanating from Ireland, so that swift 
action can be taken to ensure the 
protection of consumer health globally. 
Likewise, a RASFF notification from 
another Member State will inform 
the Authority in relation to a food 
incident that has occurred abroad that 
could have implications for Ireland.

Overview

Where there is a need for action to 
be taken during a food incident, it is 
vital that accurate information is swiftly 
conveyed to the official agencies and 
the food business community. The 
Authority has a national electronic 
food alert system in place to manage 
the swift dissemination of information. 
The content of information that is 
contained in a food alert ensures 
that the recipient is informed about 
the food incident and the action, 
if any, required. The Authority has 
established a comprehensive database 
of enforcement agencies, public 
health representatives, food business 
representatives and other interested 
groups and organisations. These food 
alert notifications are sent by email, 
with the option of SMS text and once 
issued, are published on the website. 

Food incidents are not always confined 
solely to Ireland. In this regard the 
Authority is the national contact 
point for the Rapid Alert System for 
Food and Feed (RASFF) notification 
system operated by the European 
Commission. The RASFF exchanges 
information between Member States 
on hazards identified in food, feed 
and contact materials. This system 
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Food Alerts

Protocol Three

1,710
1,710 market notifications were issued  
through RASFF in 2008; 23 of which 
were issued by the Authority.

872
872 contacts on the food alert  
notification database.

Key Facts
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Microbiological Tests Carried
Out at the Central Meat
Control Laboratory in 2008
 Number of Number of 
Test/ Samples Unsatisfactory 
Sample Tested  Samples (%)

Meat/Meat Products  
(Open Pack) 1,829 97 (5)
Water 432 28 (6)
E. coli  
(Carcase Swabs) 14 0 (0)
Trichinella (Pigs) 2,680 0 (0)
Trichinella (Horses) 99 0 (0)

Total 5,054 125 (2)

Dairy Science Laboratories

In 2008, the three dairy science 
laboratories carried out microbiological 
tests on 9,505 milk, milk product 
and water samples submitted by 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Food inspectors from milk 
and dairy establishments. Tests 
included: total viable counts, 
Enterobacteriaceae, E. coli, coliforms, 
Staphylococcus aureus, Salmonella, 
and L. monocytogenes. Two percent 
(139/9,169) of the milk/milk products 
samples revealed unsatisfactory 
results, whilst 13% (44/336) of water 
samples had unsatisfactory results. 

Central Veterinary 
Research Laboratory

As part of the National Salmonella 
Control Plan, samples are collected 
from egg layer hatcheries and tested 
for the presence of Salmonella. 
Only two of the 589 samples 
tested in 2008 were positive. 

Marine Institute 

The Marine Institute is Ireland’s 
national reference laboratory for both 
biotoxins and the microbiology of 
shellfish. The Institute carried out 
microbiological tests on 3,777 shellfish 
and related samples in 2008. 

Testing of shellfish flesh for E. coli 
is carried out in order to assign 
harvesting areas a classification 
of A, B or C. In order to monitor 
the safety of harvesting waters, 
1,989 tests were carried out for 
toxic species of phytoplankton. 

Microbiological Tests Carried Out
by the Marine Institute in 2008
Sample  Number of 
Type Test  Samples Tested

Shellfish E. coli 1,734
Shellfish Virology (norovirus  
 and hepatitis A) 54
Water Phytoplankton 1,989

Total  3,777

Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority

In 2008, the Sea-Fisheries Protection 
Authority collected nearly 2,000 
samples for microbiological testing. 
Depending on the test required, 
samples were analysed at various 
laboratories including the Marine 
Institute. 

Samples Collected by the Sea-
Fisheries Protection Authority for
Microbiological Testing in 2008
Sample Type Number of Samples Collected

Shellfisha 1,773
Fish and Fishery Products 105
Live Bivalve Molluscs 32
Environmental Swabs 32
Sea Water 26
Ice 11

Total 1,979

a: 1,761 samples tested for E. coli (for 
classification of harvesting area) and 12 
samples tested for viruses (norovirus and/or 
hepatitis A).

Chemical Testing

During 2008, a wide variety of 
foodstuffs were tested for a range 
of chemical parameters including 
pesticides, veterinary medicine 
residues, biotoxins in shellfish, 
chemical contaminants, food 
additives, and trans fatty acids. 

National Residue Monitoring 
Programme

Over 31,500 samples of foods 
of animal origin were tested 
under Ireland’s National Residue 
Monitoring Programme in 2008. This 
comprehensive testing programme, 
which is approved by the EU every 
year, covers 18 distinct types of 
residues that fall into four broad 
categories: banned substances 
(such as growth promoting 
hormones), approved veterinary 
medicines, animal feed additives, 
and environmental contaminants.

Samples were collected by inspectors 
from the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food, local authorities, 
the Marine Institute or by sea-fisheries 
protection officers. They were taken 
directly from animals, or from animal 
produce at farm, primary processing, 
and packing plant level. The majority 
(78%) of samples were taken because 
of routine or targeted sampling.

9,505 
The three dairy science laboratories carried 
out microbiological tests on 9,505 milk, milk 
product and water samples submitted by 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food 
inspectors from milk and dairy establishments.
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Irish Foods of Animal Origin Tested Under the National
Residue Monitoring Programme in 2008 
Sample  Number of Samples Analysed Number of Non-compliant Samples (%)

Eggs 297 5 (1.7)
Poultry 1,363 16 (1.2)
Wild deer 102 1 (1.0)
Beef 11,837 82 (0.7)
Milk 1,332 6 (0.5)
Pigs 13,324 50 (0.4)
Sheep 2,134 5 (0.2)
Farmed Deer 111 0 (0) 
Farmed Fish 652 0 (0) 
Honey 120 0 (0)
Horse 240 0 (0) 

Total 31,512 165 (0.5)

Whilst the level of non-compliance was low, at 0.5%, this was an increase on 
previous years, and was largely due to the dioxin crisis in December 2008, which 
was discovered following the detection of dioxins in a routine sample of pig fat 
tested under the national plan. 

Some 55% (90/165) of non-compliant samples in 2008 were associated with 
the dioxin crisis investigation. Through extensive investigations, non-compliant 
results were found for 49 samples from cow herds, 39 from pig herds and two 
samples from poultry. On the basis of a risk assessment, the Authority instructed 
the food industry to recall all Irish pork and bacon products from pigs slaughtered 
in Ireland since 1 September, 2008. The risk assessment determined that a recall 
of beef and poultry products was not necessary as the exposure from these 
products was much lower than that posed by the contamination found in pork. 

Also through routine sampling, one case of the presence of a banned antibiotic, 
furazolidone, was detected in a sample taken at farm level from a beef animal. 
As is procedure when a residue violation is confirmed, the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food began an investigation, from which nine 
additional animals tested positive for the banned antibiotic. These animals 
were removed from the food chain, along with the initial animal which had 
tested positive. In general, it is the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Food’s policy to initiate prosecutions in respect of all illegal use of banned 
substances, as well as increased monitoring of the herd in question.

Residues of nicarbazin, a feed additive, 
were found in 13 poultry samples. As 
yet, no definitive thresholds have been 
set by the EU for this substance, but 
on the basis of a risk assessment, 
the Authority and the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food were 
satisfied there was no specific risk 
to the health of consumers. Five egg 
samples also tested positive, and 
although the levels were very low, 
nicarbazin is not permitted for use 
in birds producing eggs for human 
consumption. The Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food 
fully investigated the incident and 
continues to work with the poultry 
and feed industry to ensure that 
this issue is effectively addressed.

Two other cases were investigated, 
where the results suggested the use 
of banned substances (nitrofurazone 
and thiouricil). However, investigations 
showed there had been no illegal 
administration, and that the levels 
detected were ‘background’ levels. 
These findings reflect the sensitive 
nature of the laboratory methods 
used, which are capable of detecting 
extremely low levels of residues that, 
in many cases, are far below the levels 
which pose a threat to human health.

No non-compliances were found 
in over 1,100 samples, taken from 
farmed deer, farmed fish, honey 
and horses. Lead was detected 
in one wild deer sample, but 
investigations revealed that this was 
as a result of the lead shot, rather 
than environmental contamination.

1,989 
In order to monitor the safety of 
shellfish harvesting waters, 1,989 
tests were carried out for toxic 
species of phytoplankton. 

31,512 
Over 31,512 samples of food of 
animal origin were tested under 
Ireland’s National Residue Monitoring 
Programme. This surveillance detected 
dioxin in pork in December 2008.
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In addition to Irish foods of animal origin, residue analysis was carried out on 
92 samples of produce of animal origin imported directly into Ireland from Third 
countries. All of these samples were compliant.

Pesticides Residues

The Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food’s Pesticide Control Service 
monitors domestic and imported food for pesticide residues. Food of plant and 
animal origin is included in the programme; pesticide control officers collect 
samples of food of plant origin, whilst dairy and veterinary inspectors carry out 
sampling of food of animal-origin. 

In total, 1,784 foods were tested for pesticides in 2008; 358 more than in 2007. 
The majority (54%) of samples tested were Irish produce and most (74%) were 
tested under routine sampling. 

Type of Food Sample Analysed for Pesticide Residues in 2008

One percent of samples contained 
pesticide levels which exceeded 
the maximum residue limit set in 
legislation. This was an improvement 
on 2007, where the proportion of 
samples in which the maximum 
residue limit was exceeded was 
more than twice as much (2.4%). 

If a maximum residue limit is exceeded, 
a dietary intake calculation is carried 
out to determine if the acceptable 
daily intake or an acute reference 
dose has been exceeded, and to 
determine if the level presents a risk to 
consumers, both adults and children. 
None of these samples, however, 
exceeded the limit by a level that would 
be deemed a potential health risk to 
consumers. If the level is considered to 
be potentially harmful to the consumer, 
the food is withdrawn or recalled. 

All breaches were detected through 
routine sampling and all were in fruit 
(14) or vegetables (6). Sixteen of the 
breaches were in non-Irish foods 
and four were in foods of Irish origin. 
In 2008, the Authority notified the 
European Commission, through the 
Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed, 
of two breaches in non-Irish foods. 
The Commission then informed the 
relevant authorities in the country of 
origin. All breaches were followed 
up by the relevant inspectors.

Residues of 16 pesticides were 
detected at limits over their 
maximum residue limit (MRL). 
Chlorpyrifos, dimethoate, methomyl 
and thiophanate-methyl were the 
most frequently detected pesticides 
which exceeded their limits, and 
were detected in eight separate 
fruit and vegetable samples.
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FRUIT AND VEGETABLES (922)

FOOD OF
ANIMAL
ORIGIN
(565)

MISC.
(198)

CEREALS
(99)

1,784 
The Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food’s Pesticide 
Control Service tested 1,784 
foods for pesticides in 2008.
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Pesticides which Exceeded the Maximum Residue Limit in Foodstuffs in 2008
 Number of Samples 
 Where the Limit  
Pesticide was Exceeded Foodstuff Country of Origin

Acetamiprid 1 Pomegranate Turkey
Azinphos-me 1 Grapes Chile
Azoxystrobin 1 Parsley Ireland
Carbendazim 1 Lettuce Spain
Chlorothalonil 1 Chinese cabbage Ireland
Chlorpyrifos 2 Turnip Ireland
  Orange Morocco
Deltamethrin 1 Cabbage Ireland
Diazinon 1 Apple Portugal
Dimethoate 2 Orange Italy
  Pear Portugal
Methomyl 2 Grape (x2) United States
Methoxyfenozide 1 Plum United States
Oxamyl 1 Lime Mexico
Prochloraz 1 Mango Brazil
Tecnazene 1 Potato United Kingdom
Thiabendazole 1 Orange Spain
Thiophanate-methyl 2 Apple Argentina
  Mango Senegal

Total 20

Food Analysis Carried out By Public Analyst’s Laboratories in 2008
 Number of Tests Number of Unsatisfactory 
Analytea Carried Out Results (%)

Complaint 579 297 (51.3)
Labelling 607 163 (26.9)
Melamine 157 13 (8.3)
Composition/Quality 1,398 95 (6.8)
Food Contact Materials 103 7 (6.8)
Process Contaminants 424 22 (5.2)
Additives 1,784 56 (3.1)
Naturally Occurring Contaminants (Other) 559 11 (2.0)
Allergens 470 9 (1.9)
Inorganic Contaminants 2,646 39 (1.5)
Nutritional 1,109 14 (1.3)
Naturally Occurring Contaminants (Mycotoxins) 907 8 (0.9)
Export Certificate 382 1 (0.3)
Genetically Modified Organisms 53 0 (0)
Irradiation 479 0 (0)
Naturally Occurring Contaminants (Phycotoxins) 76 0 (0)
Organic Environmental Contaminants 29 0 (0)
Residues 58 0 (0)

Total 11,820 735 (6.2)

a: More than one test may be carried out on a sample.

Public Analyst’s Laboratories

In 2008, over 8,000 samples were 
submitted to the Health Service 
Executive’s three public analyst’s 
laboratories. These laboratories carry 
out physical and chemical analysis 
of food and food-related samples 
which are submitted as part of routine 
investigations, programmed surveys 
or as a result of complaints. The 
laboratories also provide an analytic 
service to manufacturers who require a 
‘Certificate of Free Sale’ if they wish to 
export their foodstuff outside the EU.

Overall, 6.2% of tests had 
unsatisfactory results. In particular, 
27% of labels checked for 
compliance with labelling legislation 
were unsatisfactory. Accurate and 
complete labelling is essential, so that 
a consumer can make an informed 
purchasing choice. Food businesses 
must ensure that they are aware of, 
and comply with, the labelling rules 
applicable to their products. As an 
aid to the food industry, the Authority 
has produced a comprehensive guide 
to labelling legislation The Labelling 
of Food in Ireland, 2007 and the 
Authority’s website has a dedicated 
labelling section, from which the 
legislation can be downloaded.

Samples Collected by 
Environmental Health Officers

During 2008, environmental health 
officers collected nearly 6,000 
samples in order to test for chemical 
or physical contamination, or to 
check composition or labelling. 
These tests were carried out at the 
public analyst’s laboratories. Five 
percent of these samples had an 
infringement. Most infringements were 
not food safety related: 53% were for 
labelling and presentation and 39% 
were compositional. Of the 5,847 
samples, only 5% were found to have 
chemical or physical contamination. 

6,000 
During 2008, environmental health 
officers collected nearly 6,000 
samples in order to test for chemical 
or physical contamination, or to 
check composition or labelling.
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Samples Tested for Chemical, Physical, Compositional Infringements in 2008*
  Type of Infringement
  Number of      
 Number of  Samples with  Chemical or  Labelling and  
Food Type Samples Infringement (%) Physical Composition Presentation Other

Dairy Products 306 15 (5) 0 3 12 0
Egg and Egg Products 2 0 (0) 0 0 0 0
Meat and Meat Products 491 34 (7) 0 14 20 0
Fish, Shellfish and Molluscs 415 16 (4) 0 5 10 1
Fats and Oils 182 26 (14) 2 24 0 0
Soups, Broths and Sauces 277 17 (6) 0 10 7 0
Cereals and Bakery Products 733 47 (6) 1 7 38 1
Fruit and Vegetables 512 11 (2) 1 3 7 0
Herbs and Spices 358 16 (4) 0 1 15 0
Non-alcoholic Beverages 655 36 (5) 1 12 19 4
Wine 59 2 (3) 0 0 2 0
Alcoholic Beverages 116 1 (1) 0 1 0 0
Ices and Desserts 23 3 (13) 0 1 2 0
Cocoa and Cocoa Preparations,  
Coffee and Tea 100 5 (5) 0 0 5 0
Confectionery 219 14 (6) 0 7 7 0
Nut and Nut Products 229 6 (3) 0 3 3 0
Prepared Dishes 223 8 (4) 1 2 5 0
Foodstuffs Intended for  
Special Nutritional Uses 421 8 (2) 3 4 1 0
Additives 7 0 (0) 0 0 0 0
Materials and Articles Intended  
to Come Into Contact with Food 80 10 (13) 2 8 0 0
Other 439 22 (5) 4 11 5 2

Total 5,847 297 (5) 15 116 158 8

*  Samples collected by environmental health officers and tested in public analyst’s laboratories. These are routine samples taken to support inspection activity, 
survey samples and samples from regional sampling plans.

A seminar to discuss the issues raised by the land-spreading of 
organic agricultural and organic municipal and industrial materials 
on agricultural land used for food production was hosted by 
the Authority in 2008. The Authority’s report, launched at the 
event, stated that further controls are required to safeguard 
public health in relation to land that is being used for food 
production that has been fertilised through land-spreading.

Pictured at the event are (l-r): Prof John Daniel Collins, Food 
Safety Authority of Ireland Board Member; Prof Martin Cormican, 
Food Safety Authority of Ireland Microbiology Sub-committee 
Chairman and Prof Alan Reilly, Food Safety Authority of Ireland.
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Marine Institute 

In 2008, the Marine Institute carried 
out over 18,500 tests on seafood for 
a range of chemical parameters.

Chemical Tests Carried Out by
the Marine Institute in 2008
Sample   Number 
Type Test of Tests

Shellfish Environmental  
 Contaminants 606
Shellfish Biotoxin (Bioassay) 1,992
Shellfish Biotoxin (Chemistry) 13,435
Finfish Residues  2,094
Finfish Environmental  
 Contaminantsa 393

Total  18,520

a: Tests carried out on samples taken at place  
of landing.

As part of Ireland’s shellfish biotoxin 
monitoring programme, 1,958 shellfish 
samples collected from harvesting 
areas around the country were tested 
by the Marine Institute. The programme 
tests for the full range of biotoxins 
required by legislation, including the 
toxins that cause diarrhetic shellfish 
poisoning, paralytic shellfish poisoning, 
and azaspiracid shellfish poisoning. 
As in previous years, the majority 
(63%) of samples were blue mussels. 

A sample’s test result determines the 
status of the harvesting area from 
which it was taken, i.e. whether the 
production area is closed, or issued 
a closed pending or open status. If 
a harvesting area is closed, it can 

only be re-opened after two clear results, a minimum of 48 hours apart, have 
been attained. A ‘closed pending’ status is set after the first clear sample has 
been received. In 2008, 15% (303/1,958) of samples led to a harvesting area 
being closed. The highest frequency of closures was in the South West, where 
32% (267/829) of samples resulted in a closure. This area has the highest 
density of farms and is therefore, subject to the highest number of samples. 

Number of Samples Resulting in ‘Closed’, ‘Closed 
Pending’ and ‘Open’ Status by Region in 2008

The Marine Institute manages the Management Cell process of the Molluscan 
Shellfish Safety Committee, which is chaired by the Authority. The purpose of 
the Management Cell is to proactively manage the risk presented by marine 
biotoxins in non-routine situations. In 2008, 75 Management Cell Decisions 
were required – 46 more than in 2007. Seventy (93%) of the decisions 
related to blue mussels, four to pacific oysters and one to manila clams.
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18,520
The Marine Institute carried out 
18,520 tests on seafood for biotoxins, 
residues and contaminants.
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Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority

In 2008, the Sea-Fisheries Protection 
Authority collected 966 seafood 
samples for a range of chemical 
analysis, including residues and 
histamine. 

Chemical Analysis on Seafood
Samples in 2008*
 Number of  
Test Samples Collected

Residues 796
Environmental Contaminants 68
Histamine 95
Sulphites (in Prawns) 7

Total 966

* Samples collected by the Sea-Fisheries 
Protection Authority.

Trans Fatty Acids

In 2008, the Authority examined the 
levels of trans fatty acids in 150 fast-
food food samples sold in Ireland. 
Similar to the findings of a previous 
survey1 in retail products, levels of 
trans fatty acids were low. In total, 
77% of samples had 2% or less 
trans fatty acids as of percentage of 
total fat. The results also suggested 
that, in the majority of the products 
produced and prepared by fast-food 
outlets in Ireland, the use of ingredients 
containing trans fatty acids has been 
modified, limited or reduced. In many 
products, however, levels of total fat 
and saturated fat were high. Public 
concerns over the health effects of 
trans fatty acids have become the 
focus of much debate, perhaps 
ignoring the public health issues 
concerning high levels of saturated 
and total fat in fast-food products.

Red 2G (E128) in Sausages 
and Burgers

Red 2G (E128) is the common name 
for the colour disodium 8-acetamido-
1-hydroxy-2-phenylazo-naphthalene-
3,6-disulphonate. Up until July 2007, 
its use was authorised2 in certain 
breakfast sausages and burger meat. 

The approvals for all additives are kept 
under continuous observation and 
are re-evaluated, whenever necessary 
in light of changing conditions of use 
or when new scientific information 
comes to light. As the original safety 
assessments for a number of the 
additives date back many years, the 
European Commission considered 
that there was a need to systematically 
review all of the authorised additives. 

It was within this context, that Red 
2G was re-evaluated by the European 
Food Safety Authority, which in 2007, 
published an opinion concluding that 
it would be prudent to regard Red 
2G as being of safety concern. This 
conclusion was based on the fact that 
Red 2G can be extensively metabolised 
to aniline, which is considered to be 
carcinogenic and for which a genotoxic 
mechanism cannot be ruled out. As 
a result, the European Food Safety 
Authority withdrew the acceptable 
daily intake for Red 2G, prompting 
the European Commission to invoke 
emergency measures suspending its 
use3. The Authority informed industry 
about the outcome of the European 
Food Safety Authority’s opinion and 
instructed manufacturers to stop 
using Red 2G in their products and to 
change product labels accordingly. 

Following the publication of the 
emergency measures, the Authority, 
in conjunction with the Cork Public 
Analyst’s Laboratory, carried out 

a surveillance study on Red 2G in 
sausages and burgers available on 
the Irish market, in order to ascertain 
the levels of compliance with these 
new measures. Twenty six samples 
were tested: 18 types of sausages and 
eight types of burgers. Of these, two 
burger samples contained detectable 
amounts of Red 2G, albeit at very 
low levels. The Authority followed up 
these non-compliances and corrective 
action was taken in both cases. 

Results of this study showed that 
most manufacturers were quick to 
take action to reformulate products 
containing Red 2G following the 
publication of the emergency 
measures which suspended its use. 

Benzene in Soft Drinks

The chemical benzene can be 
produced in soft drinks under certain 
conditions through the interaction 
of sodium benzoate (E211) and 
ascorbic acid (vitamin C) (E300). 
In 2006, the US Food and Drug 
Administration reported that some 
soft drinks were contaminated with 
benzene at levels above the World 
Health Organization’s limit for drinking 
water of ten parts per billion. In 2008, 
the Authority published details of 
its second survey to determine the 
levels of benzene present in soft 
drinks, squashes and flavoured 
waters available on the Irish market. 

Determination of benzene levels was 
made on the samples as purchased. 
Of the 63 samples tested, 86% did not 
contain detectable levels of benzene 
and 97% had benzene levels below 
ten parts per billion. Two samples 
contained benzene above ten parts per 
billion, which was used as the guideline 
action limit in this survey in the absence 

1: Food Safety Authority of Ireland (2007). Trans Fatty Acid Survey – Retail Products.
2: Under Directive 94/36/EC on colours in foodstuffs.
3: Commission Regulation 884/2007/EC.

77% 
In a survey of fast-food sold in Ireland, 
77% of samples had 2% or less trans 
fatty acids as a percentage of total fat.
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of legislative limits. These two samples 
were analysed as purchased, but when 
they were diluted, as recommended 
on the labels by the manufacturers, 
the benzene levels were well below 
the limit. Nevertheless, the Authority 
followed-up with the retailers and 
distributors involved, in order to 
alert them to the slightly elevated 
levels in these particular products 
and corrective action was taken. 

This survey showed that the levels 
of benzene measured in soft drinks, 
squashes and flavoured waters 
available on the Irish market are 
generally very low and do not pose a 
safety concern for consumers of these 
products. These results concur with 
those found in an earlier study carried 
out by the Authority in 2006, and in 
studies carried out by other agencies 
both at EU and international level. 

Genetically Modified Food

The Authority is the Competent 
Authority for implementing 
genetically modified (GM) food 
legislation in Ireland and routinely 
surveys the marketplace to ensure 
compliance with that legislation. 

In 2008, the Cork Public Analyst’s 
Laboratory tested 41 food samples 
and found five (12%) to contain the 
GM ingredient ‘roundup ready soya’. 
Four of the foods – a breakfast cereal, 
a dairy-free cheese flavour sauce mix, 
a tofu mix, and a dairy-free grated 
hard cheese re-placer – contained 
trace amounts (below the 0.9% 
threshold level) and as such, the 
GM ingredient was not required to 
be declared on the label. However, 
two of these products carried claims 
indicating that no GM ingredients were 
present. The Authority informed both 
manufacturers that the non-GM claims 
were misleading to the consumer 
and were a possible breach of 

the general labelling legislation. The fifth product to contain ‘roundup ready 
soya’ was rice flour. As soya is allergenic for certain people, products 
containing it must be labelled accordingly. The manufacturer was notified 
and agreed to remove the product from sale on the Irish market.

As part of its competent authority duties, the Authority reviews the safety 
assessment of GM foods carried out by the European Food Safety Authority 
which, in 2008, included GM soyabean MON 89788 and a GM oilseed rape T45.

Irradiated Food 

The Authority is the Competent Authority for implementing legislation on irradiated 
food in Ireland and is required to report annually to the Commission on checks 
of the marketplace for compliance with that legislation (Directives 1999/2/
EC and 1999/3/EC – S.I. No. 297 of 2000). A limited number of foods may be 
irradiated within and outside of the EU, but the process must be carried out 
in authorised facilities, with the resulting food products labelled appropriately. 
No facilities in Ireland have been approved for the irradiation of food, to date.

Each year, a range of food samples are collected by environmental health officers 
and analysed by the public analyst’s laboratories to determine if they have been 
treated with ionising radiation. In 2008, tests on 495 food samples identified 
that 2% had been irradiated, but were not carrying the required labelling. Six 
percent of noodles and 5% of dietary supplements tested were non-compliant. 
Corrective action was coordinated at local level by environmental health officers. 

Irradiated Food Test Results Submitted to the European Commission in 2008
 Number of Samples
Food Categorya Non-irradiated Irradiated but Unlabelled % Irradiated

Noodles 17 1 6%
Dietary Supplements 175 9 5%
Seasonings and Stocks 114 1 1%
Herbs and Spices 134 0 0
Sauces and Soups 8 0 0
PARNUTSb 7 0 0
Tea 16 0 0
Seeds 6 0 0
Fruit and Vegetables 4 0 0
Miscellaneous 3 0 0

Total 484 11 2%

a: EU certified testing methods: EN1375 for screening, confirmation by EN1788.
b: PARNUTS (foods for particular nutritional uses).

12% 
The Cork Public Analyst’s Laboratory 
tested 41 food samples and found 
five (12%) to contain the GM 
ingredient ‘roundup ready soya’. 

2% 
Tests on 495 food samples identified 
that 2% had been irradiated, but were 
not carrying the required labelling.



The Authority manages an extensive 
contact database and communication 
system for rapid transmission of 
information across the key audiences. 
Where the risk to human health 
is serious, information can be 
communicated swiftly and effectively 
using multiple channels to engage 
with all audiences. In addition, the 
Authority has a range of information 
services that can assist stakeholders 
to access more information 
or have questions answered 
quickly during a food incident. 

Overview

The Authority’s risk communication 
strategy focuses on the procedures 
and tactics for delivering key messages 
to a wide variety of audiences who 
need to be informed during a food 
incident. The scope of the strategy  
is developed in line with the 
level of risk and extent of each 
incident. It provides for devising the 
communication message based on 
the scientific opinion and outcome 
of the risk assessment process. 

The overriding objective is to ensure 
rapid, accurate and clear information 
is imparted, so that there is maximum 
awareness and understanding of  
the issue and the actions required. 
There is a myriad of audiences, at 
both national and international level, 
that could require information on a 
food incident. The level and extent of 
outreach employed by the Authority 
is subject to the severity of the food 
incident and the corresponding level 
of danger posed to public health. 
These audiences could range 
from Government departments 
and State agencies, through the 
general public, the food industry 
and the European Commission. 

Risk  
Communication 
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Protocol Four

11,982
11,982 queries dealt with  
by the advice line staff in 2008.

58%
58% increase in visitors to the  
Authority’s website in 2008.

Key Facts
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Audit Activity

Investigations

During 2008, the Authority supported 
the Local Authority Veterinary Service 
in its investigation and prosecution 
of a meat company for breaches of 
labelling legislation. The Authority also 
continued two other investigations 
into breaches of food legislation which 
centred on declarations regarding the 
method of production of fish products. 
It is the Authority’s intention to seek 
legal advice with a view to initiating 
legal proceedings in 2009 against the 
food business operators concerned.

The Authority also supported an 
official agency in its investigation into 
an incident whereby food unsafe for 
human consumption was placed on 
the market. The incident resulted 
in a worldwide product withdrawal 
following a notification from the Rapid 
Alert System for Food and Feed 
issued by the French authorities. 

Audit Charter

Section 48(9) of the FSAI Act, 1998, as 
amended states: “The Authority shall 
take such measures as it considers 
appropriate to determine whether 
an official agency is adequately 
carrying out its functions under 
a service contract”. To meet this 
statutory requirement, in 2008, the 
Authority redesigned its approach 
to its audit activity and published 
the Authority’s Audit Charter. 

Audits

The Authority conducted a major audit 
in 2008 to verify the effectiveness 
and appropriateness of official 
controls carried out by one of its 
official agencies. The audit process 
used a sample of official control 
activities in order to gauge the level 
of compliance and service delivery 
by that agency. It involved on-site 
verification at both central and local 
agency levels in order to assess the 

effectiveness and appropriateness of 
official controls across all activities. 
Audits of establishments under the 
agency’s supervision were also carried 
out in order to confirm the necessary 
supervisory arrangements were in 
place and that they were effective.

Targeted or focused audits examine 
the effectiveness and appropriateness 
of official controls and/or food business 
operators’ compliance with a specific 
aspect of food law. Targeted audits 
continued in 2008, focusing on 
ensuring that specified risk material 
(SRM) does not enter the food chain. 
SRM is prohibited from entering 
the food chain due to the possible 
risk of the transmission of bovine 
spongiform encephalopathy (BSE).

For each audit conducted by the 
Authority, a report is generated which 
details the scope and purpose of 
the audit as well as assessment 
on the level of compliance or non-
compliance detected. In the event of 
non-compliance, the auditee prepares 
a corrective action plan, and the 
Authority follows up to ensure the 
corrective action has been taken.

Food and Veterinary Office Missions

The European Commission is required, 
through its Food and Veterinary 
Office (FVO), to carry out general and 
specific audits in order to verify that 
overall specific controls are taken in 
Member States. Ireland was one of 
seven Member States selected for 
a general audit in 2008. The general 
audit included five sector specific 
missions relating to food law and the 
Authority coordinated these missions 
across the relevant official agencies. 

Closeout audits update the Authority 
on the corrective actions taken to 
address findings from FVO missions. 
These audit reports may also be made 
available to the European Commission 
if requested. In 2008, the Authority 
carried out an audit, the primary 
objective of which was to review the 

corrective actions which had been 
implemented with regard to the 
findings/recommendations detailed 
in the final report on a sector specific 
mission conducted by the FVO  
in 2007. The audit also assessed  
the current state of compliance  
with food law. 

Food Incidents and Alerts

The Authority is the national central 
contact point for information and 
communication relating to food 
incidents and food alerts, and provides 
24/7 emergency cover when required. 
The Authority is also the Irish contact 
point for the European Rapid Alert 
System for Food and Feed (RASFF).

Food Incidents

A food incident may arise from a 
problem identified by a food business 
operator, by an official agency in the 
course of official controls, or from 
information received from other 
countries, usually through RASFF. 
In most circumstances, producers 
identify the problem themselves 
and they normally initiate a product 
withdrawal and, where necessary, 
a product recall. The Authority’s 
main priority is consumer health and 
it may, in certain circumstances, 
instigate a withdrawal or recall.

The number and complexity of the 
food incidents in 2008 increased 
considerably compared to 2007. 
The Authority managed 291 food 
incidents in 2008, a 38% increase 
on 2007. Ninety were full incidents, 
which included two major incidents: 
a Salmonella Agona outbreak and the 
contamination of pork with dioxins. 
This represented an 18% increase on 
the 76 full incidents managed in 2007. 

Similar to previous years, most 
incidents (40%) related to chemical 
hazards (mycotoxins, irradiation and 
other chemical hazards), followed by 
microbiological contamination (30%).

38% 
The Authority managed 291 food 
incidents in 2008, a 38% increase  
on 2007.

2 
The Authority managed 2 major food 
incidents during 2008; an outbreak 
of Salmonella Agona and the 
contamination of pork with dioxins.
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Food Incidents by Category in 2008

A further 115 miscellaneous or 
minor incidents were handled by the 
Authority in 2008, an increase of 42 
(58%) on 2007 figures. There were 
also 18 notifications of food incidents 
made by food business operators 
in 2008. In addition, the Authority 
managed 68 cross-country food 
incidents, primarily with the UK.

National Food Alerts

In order to communicate information 
on some food incidents, the Authority 
issues national food alerts. These 
are classified in two categories – 
Category 1: for action, where there 
is an identified risk to consumers 
and Category 2: for information, 
where information is provided, but 
no specific action is required. 

The Authority issued 17 food alerts in 2008 – eleven ‘for action’ and six ‘for 
information’. These included seven alerts issued over the Salmonella Agona 
outbreak in August and three alerts issued over the dioxin crisis in December.

Food Alerts Issued by the Authority in 2008
Date Alert type Reason for Alert

30 April For information  Control measures regarding the unauthorised 
genetically modified organism ‘Bt 63’ in rice and rice 
products from China

3 May For information  Trade recall of Bantry Bay Seafood frozen mussels by 
Aldi Stores due to possible presence of azaspiracid 
shellfish toxin

23 June For action  Recall of Killowen Orchard bottled juices due to 
presence of patulin 

16 July For action  Recall of Pure Spring bottled water range due to 
presence of E. coli

11 August For action  Salmonella Agona outbreak
13 August For information  Salmonella Agona outbreak: update 1
13 August For action  Salmonella Agona outbreak: update 2
15 August For information  Salmonella Agona outbreak: update 3
15 August For action  Salmonella Agona outbreak: update 4
21 August For action  Salmonella Agona outbreak: update 5
22 August For action  Salmonella Agona outbreak: update 6
4 September For information  Recall of soft washed rind cheeses from France due 

to presence of Listeria monocytogenes
11 September For information  Withdrawal of black nylon kitchen utensils due to 

migration of primary aromatic amines
25 September For action  Suspected melamine in ‘White Rabbit Creamy 

Candies’ from China
6 December For action Recall of Irish pork and bacon products
10 December For action  Recall of Irish pork and bacon products: update 1
16 December For action  Recall of Irish pork and bacon products: update 2

RASFF Food Alerts

The Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed (RASFF) is a notification system 
managed by the European Commission to exchange information between 
Member States on hazards identified in food, feed and food contact materials. 
‘Alert notifications’ are issued where a food, feed or food contact material on 
the market presents a risk and where rapid action is required. ‘Information 
notifications’ are issued where a risk has been identified, but the product has  
not reached the market, or all necessary measures have already been taken  
or are in the process of being taken.

In 2008, 1,710 market notifications were issued through RASFF: 549 of these 
were alert notifications and 1,161 were information notifications. The food 
categories giving rise to the most alert notifications were ‘fish, crustaceans and 
molluscs’ and ‘meat and meat products’ which accounted for 20% and 13% of all 
alert notifications, respectively. For information notifications, the largest proportion 
related to ‘fruit and vegetables’ (17%), followed closely by ‘fish, crustaceans and 
molluscs’ (16%). 

Microbiological 30%
Foreign Body 14.4%
Labelling 3.3%
Mycotoxins 5.6%
Irradiation 2.2%
Other Chemical 32.2%
GMO 1.1%
Allergen 10.0%
Fraud 1.1%

17 
The Authority issued 17 food 
alerts in 2008 – eleven ‘for action’ 
and six ‘for information’.

23 
The Authority issued 23 market 
notifications through the Rapid  
Alert System for Food and Feed.
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Twenty three of the market 
notifi cations (six alert and 17 
information notifi cations) were issued 
by the Authority in respect of food 
and food contact materials that 
were distributed to or from Ireland. 
Ireland was the country of product 
origin for 11 RASFF notifi cations, 
the same number as in 2007. 

Foodborne Illness

The Health Protection Surveillance 
Centre is the Irish body responsible 
for collating, analysing and reporting 
on cases of infectious diseases 
which are required to be notifi ed 
under the Infectious Diseases 
Regulations, 1981 (as amended). 
The Authority works closely with the 
Health Protection Surveillance Centre 
with regards to infectious diseases 
that can be transmitted by food, 
especially when an outbreak occurs. 

Although infectious diseases, like 
salmonellosis or campylobacteriosis, 
are often transmitted by contaminated 
food, they can also be spread 
by other means such as person-
to-person spread or by animal 
contact. Usually, it is only possible 
to identify the mode of transmission 
of a disease when an outbreak 
occurs, as there are more cases on 
which to base an investigation. 

An outbreak is usually defi ned as 
two or more linked cases of the 
same illness. It is not always possible 
to determine how people became 
infected, but fi gures from the Health 
Protection Surveillance Centre indicate 
that contaminated food was suspected 
as the cause of 16 outbreaks in 2008, 
resulting in 102 cases of illness and 
a 18% hospitalisation rate. Most of 
the suspected foodborne outbreaks 
(44%) occurred in private homes. 

Over half of the suspected foodborne 
outbreaks were caused by Salmonella. 
The largest foodborne outbreak was 
caused by Salmonella Agona, which 
occurred in the summer 2008. This 
outbreak was linked to processed meat 
from a production plant in Ireland and 
affected 144 people in eight different 
countries, of whom 11 were in Ireland. 

Location of Suspected 
Foodborne Outbreaks in 2008*

* Source: HPSC

Suspected Foodborne Outbreaks in 2008a

 Number of   Number
Disease Outbreaks Number Ill Hospitalised

Salmonellosis 9 49 12
Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli Infection 3 6 4
Acute Infectious Gastroenteritis 2 43 0
Campylobacteriosis 1 2 0
Shigellosis 1 2 2

Total 16 102 18

a: Source: HPSC.

Private House 7
Community Outbreak 3
Travel Related 3
Hospital 1
Residential Institution 1
Other 1

102 
Contaminated food was suspected 
as the cause of 16 outbreaks in 2008, 
which resulted in 102 cases of illness.

In 2008, the Authority published a guide entitled; 
Cryptosporidium – Protecting Your Food 
Business, which provides practical advice to food 
businesses in the event their water supply becomes 
contaminated with Cryptosporidium. The booklet 
was produced in light of Cryptosporidium water 
contamination incidents in Ireland and it aims to 
assist food businesses to protect their customers’ 
health in the event of any future incidents. It 
outlines specifi c steps in a food business that 
should be taken if its drinking water supply is 
contaminated with Cryptosporidium and a ‘boil 
water notice’ has been issued by a local authority. 
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Zoonoses

Zoonoses are diseases that can 
be transmitted from vertebrate 
animals to humans, for example 
campylobacteriosis, listeriosis and 
salmonellosis. European Council 
Directive 2003/99/EC requires 
Member States to collect, evaluate 
and report data on zoonoses, zoonotic 
agents, antimicrobial resistance and 
foodborne outbreaks to the European 
Commission each year. These data are 
then processed by the European Food 
Safety Authority and published in the 
form of a community summary report. 
In Ireland, the Authority compiles Irish 
data on zoonotic agents detected in 
food; the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food compiles data 
on zoonotic agents in animals and 
feed; while the Health Protection 
Surveillance Centre is responsible for 
compiling data on zoonotic disease in 
humans and on foodborne outbreaks. 

Information and 
Communication 

One of the Authority’s core functions 
is to act as a resource for interested 
parties to source information on all 
aspects of food safety and hygiene, 
and also to allow consumers to 
communicate their views. This 
exchange of information is facilitated 
through our advice line, website, 
extranet, information centre, 
publications and press office. In 
2008, the Authority issued 36 
press releases to media in order to 
communicate information on food 
safety issues to a wider audience. 
Disseminating accurate information 
on food safety to the food industry 
via these channels of communication 
facilitates the development of high 
food safety standards in Ireland.

Advice Line

The advice line, on lo-call 1890 33 
66 77 or info@fsai.ie, operates from 
9 am to 5 pm weekdays. Our trained 
customer advisors and food scientists 
deal, on a daily basis, with queries 
from a wide range of sources. 

In 2008, a total of 11,982 queries were 
logged by the advice line staff. This 
figure includes 3,774 queries relating to 
the dioxin crisis in December. Excluding 
the queries on the crisis, the average 
number of calls per month was 684, 
which represented a 6% increase on 
2007. Following the same trend as 
previous years, the majority of queries 
were from the food industry (34%) and 
consumers (33%). Members of the 
food industry sought information mainly 
on legislation, labelling, standards 
and HACCP. Complaints about food 
and food premises represented the 
majority of queries from consumers. 
Most of the complaints were in relation 
to poor hygiene standards, food unfit 
for human consumption, or suspected 
food poisoning. These complaints 
are referred to environmental health 
officers who investigate them on 
behalf of the Authority. Consumers 
also complained about misleading 
labelling and, in general, are becoming 
more aware of what should and 
should not appear on a food label.

Category of Caller to  
the Advice Line in 2008

The most common categories 
of calls in 2008 were consumer 
complaints and information requests 
– mostly requests for the Authority’s 
publications. Other types of requests 
included information on labelling; 
advice on starting up a new food 
business; information on standards and 
best practice; nutrition, including food 
supplements, vitamins and salt; and 
training, which is a legal requirement 
for anyone working with food.

Consumer 33%
Food Industry 34%
Service Contract Personnel 10%
Student/Researcher 3%
Consultant 3%
Education 2%
State Sponsored Bodies 2%
Health Professional 2%
Legal 1%
Trainer 1%
Other 9%

36 
The Authority issued 36 press 
releases to media in order to 
communicate information on food 
safety issues to a wider audience.

11,982 
A total of 11,982 queries were logged 
by the advice line staff; 3,774 of which 
were related to the dioxin crisis.
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Category of Query to  
the Advice Line in 2008

Queries on the Dioxin Crisis

In December 2008, all Irish pork and 
bacon products were recalled from 
the market due to the presence of 
dioxins. During this crisis, calls to the 
advice line reached an all-time high. 
During the week of the crisis, in which 
the phone lines were operated from 
8am to 8pm, 3,725 calls in relation to 
the recall were recorded, with a further 
49 calls over subsequent days. The 
number of calls reached a peak on 
Sunday 7 December, with a total of 
2,660 calls responded to by over 35 
Authority staff and volunteers from the 
Department of Health and Children’s 
Food Unit who manned the lines. 

Callers were concerned about 
the health implications of dioxins, 
about entitlements to refunds, 
correct disposal of possibly 
affected products and the science 
and risk behind the scare.

Number of Queries to the Advice 
Line Regarding the Dioxin 
Crisis in December 2008

Category of Query Regarding the 
Dioxin Crisis in December 2008

Website

The Authority’s website, www.fsai.ie, is 
a comprehensive source of information 
for food businesses on every 
aspect of food safety, food hygiene 
management and food legislation. The 
site received 419,322 visits during 
2008, with 180,514 absolute unique 
visitors and 1,144,133 page views. 
This represented an approximate 
increase of 58% from 2007. 

The site is updated and monitored 
on a daily basis and is designed to 
provide users with all the food safety 
information they need, in a quick and 
efficient manner. In 2008, visitors came 
to the site from 197 different countries. 
Seventy one percent of visits to the 
website were from Ireland, but visits 
from countries such as the UK (10%), 
the US (4%) and France, Germany, 
Canada, Netherlands and Belgium 
(1% each) were also recorded.

Publications, legislation, news, 
alerts and enforcement were the 
most popular sections of the site 
accessed during the year.

Thirty one percent of visitors came 
directly to the website; 17% were 
referred from other sites and 52% 
were directed from search engines. 

Traffic to the website increased 
considerably during the dioxin crisis  
in early December. When compared 
with the same period the previous 
week, traffic increased by over 4,000% 
over the course of the crisis. Website 
traffic reached a peak on Sunday 7 
December, with 19,327 unique visitors.

Complaints 23%
Information Requests 18%
Labelling 11%
Business Start Up 9%
FSAI Action 8%
Standards 5%
Training 5%
Nutrition 5%
Legislation 4%
Domestic Practice 3%
Other 9%

Health Issue 41%
Refund 13%
Disposal 8%
Complaint 4%
Products Affected 2%
Science and Risk 2%
Other 14%
Not Recorded 16%
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3,725 
During the week of the dioxin crisis, in 
which the phone lines were operated 
from 8am to 8pm, 3,725 calls in relation 
to the recall were recorded, with a 
further 49 calls over subsequent days.

4,000% 
Over the course of the dioxin 
crisis, website traffic increased 
by 4,000%, as compared to the 
same period the previous week.
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Visitors to Website During the 
Dioxin Crisis in December 2008

Safety Net

Safety Net is a secure communication 
network (extranet) between the 
Authority and staff of the official 
agencies. During 2008, there were 
15,021 visitors to Safety Net, 
an average of 1,251 per month, 
representing a 5% increase from 2007. 
The sections of the site that proved 
most popular were ‘people search’, 
‘standard operating procedures’ 
and ‘publications’. The city and 
county councils accounted for 53% 
of all agency visits, followed by the 
Health Service Executive (35%) 
and the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food (9%).

Agency Visits to Safety Net in 2008

Information Centre

The Food Safety Information 
Centre contains a wide range of 
books, journals, videos and online 
databases related to food safety. 
In 2008, the centre continued to 
develop with many new titles added 
to its collection of resources.

Publications

Each year, the Authority produces a 
variety of publications, such as leaflets 
designed to assist the food industry 
to comply with different aspects of 
food legislation, and scientific reports 
published by the Scientific Committee. 

The Scientific Committee published 
scientific reports in 2008 on the 
issues of: zoonotic tuberculosis 
and food safety; gluten-free foods 
and food safety applications of 
nanotechnology. Also published were 
the reports of five food surveillance 
projects which investigated: the 
microbiological quality of bottled 
water; the microbiological status of 
food preparation surfaces; the levels 
of benzene in soft drinks; compliance 
with legislation on the food colour Red 
2G; and a survey of dietary herbal 
supplements for irradiated ingredients. 

Addressing the multicultural nature 
of Ireland’s food industry, two of the 
Authority’s popular leaflets – Safe Food 
to Go and General Labelling of Pre-
packaged Foods – were republished 
in additional languages, to improve the 
provision of food safety information 
to non-Irish national workers in the 
food industry and to provide clarity on 
labelling legislation to those importing 
pre-packaged foods into Ireland. 

In light of recent Cryptosporidium water 
contamination incidents, the booklet 
Cryptosporidium – Protecting your 
Food Business was produced in order 
to assist food businesses to protect 
their customers’ health in the event of a 
boil water notice for Cryptosporidium. 

The Authority’s Compendium of Food 
Law in Ireland, which was revised and 
republished in 2008, brings together 
all food legislation up to 15 May 2008. 

Finally, six editions of the Authority’s 
bi-monthly newsletter, fsainews, were 
distributed to a wide audience during 
the year, both by post and email. 

Consultations

As part of the Authority’s commitment 
to openness and transparency, 
public consultations were held on 
both national and EU legislative 
matters during 2008. Details of 
past and present consultations are 
available on the Authority’s website.

National Rules for Small Quantities 
of Wild Game and Wild Game Meat

The introduction in 2006 of new 
European Regulations on food hygiene 
established a ‘farm to fork’ approach 
to food safety with Regulation (EC) No 
852/2004 laying down common rules 
for all food businesses and Regulation 
(EC) No 853/2004 applying additional 
requirements to businesses handling 
foods of animal origin. The Regulations 
acknowledge the close existing 
relationships between consumers and 
hunters supplying small quantities of 
wild game and wild game meat locally, 
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City and County Councils 53%
Health Service Executive  35%
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food 9%
Sea Fisheries 
Protection Authority 1.6%

EU Food and Veterinary Office 1.3%
Marine Institute  0.2%
Other 0.2%

15,021 
There were 15,021 visitors to Safety 
Net, an average of 1,251 per month, 
representing a 5% increase from 2007.
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and it allows for Member Sates to draw 
up national rules regulating this activity 
to ensure protection of public health. 
With this in mind, the proposal to 
introduce national legislation in Ireland 
governing the direct supply by the 
hunter of small quantities of wild game 
(as primary product) and wild game 
meat to the final consumer or to local 
retail establishments directly supplying 
the final consumer, was opened for 
consultation from April to June 2008.

Food Labelling

On 30 January 2008, the European 
Commission adopted a proposal for 
a draft regulation on the provision of 
food information to consumers. This 
proposal marked the first step in a 
process to negotiate new regulations 
to replace current legislation on the 
labelling of food. At present, EU 
general labelling requirements for 
all foodstuffs are set out in Directive 
2000/13/EC and nutrition labelling 
is currently regulated by Directive 
90/496/EEC. The new proposed 
Regulation aims to consolidate and 
update both the general labelling 
and nutrition labelling legislation, 
whilst also simplifying existing rules 
and protecting consumers’ interests, 
by requiring that labels provide the 
necessary information required to 
enable consumers to make informed 
choices about the food they purchase. 
The consultation sought comments 
on all aspects of the proposal and 
ran from July to September 2008.

Training

During 2008, the Authority provided a 
range of training to staff in the official 
agencies to update them on the latest 
legal and scientific information, and 
to promote inter-agency working 
relationships. The Authority also ran 
two training programmes for the 
food industry. Prior to each training 
programme, the Authority generally 
conducts a training needs analysis, to 
identify specific training needs, followed 
by post-training evaluation to assess 
if these training needs were met. 

Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

The Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food, together with 
the Authority, provided the second 
phase of training on Regulation (EC) 
No 2073/2005 to the Department’s 
veterinary inspectors. This training 
covered collecting samples and dealing 
with results and corrective action. 
The four workshops were held at the 
Ashtown Food Research Centre, as the 
centre has an on-site abattoir where 
a practical session on sampling of 
carcasses, contact surfaces and water 
could be carried out. Presentations 
were given on microbiological criteria 
and interpretation of results.

Six workshops were held during the 
year, to train technical agricultural 
officers from the Department of 
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food on the 
role of an auditee during an audit. The 

emphasis of the training was on the 
premise that it is the system and not 
the person that is audited. A practical 
session used a number of the technical 
agricultural officers’ check sheets to 
facilitate and initiate discussion on their 
correct completion and their value as 
a record of activities that take place in 
a plant. During discussions, a number 
of suggestions for improving work 
practices were made by the agricultural 
officers and these were noted by 
senior staff at the Department, 
with a view to implementation.

The Authority provided updates 
for the Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food’s dairy and egg 
inspectors on dairy food safety; 
nutrition and health claims; Authority 
audits; Codex Alimentarius; analysis 
of Schedule 4 returns; Food and 
Veterinary Office missions; dioxin 
sampling; and storage pests.

Health Service Executive

The Authority held a series of one 
day workshops for environmental 
health officers on the approval and 
supervision of establishments subject 
to Regulation (EC) No 853/2004. 
The aim was to provide an overview 
of the regulation, the relevant 
standard operating procedures and 
accompanying documentation; and 
an explanation of Health Service 
Executive’s guidance on the hygiene 
requirements for establishments 
producing meat products.

During 2008, the Authority launched a 
national food labelling public consultation 
which asked the public to express their 
views and opinions on food labelling.  
The consultation phase was for three 
months and all comments were considered 
for the Authority’s subsequent submission 
to the Department of Health and Children, 
which will influence Ireland’s national policy 
on food labelling. Pictured at the public 
consultation are (l-r) Sherlock Holmes’ little 
helpers, Gemma and Ellen Staunton lending 
a helping hand in inspecting food labels.
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During 2008, the Authority also 
provided updates and information 
for principal environmental health 
officers during their two national 
meetings. Updates included Food 
and Veterinary Office missions; 
Enforcement Orders; radiation 
monitoring of imported food; data 
transmission; food incidents; audits; 
legislation and legal queries; and the 
Authority’s 2009 work programme.

The Authority also organised training 
workshops for environmental health 
officers on the Safe Catering Pack. 

Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority

In October, the Authority provided a 
two day workshop on food hygiene 
legislation for recently recruited staff in 
the Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority. 
The overall aim was to ensure that 
attendees had a working knowledge 
of the legislation and its practical 
application; and would be able to 
advise food business operators of 
their responsibilities in relation to 
compliance with the regulations.

Local Authorities

During their national meeting in June, 
the Authority provided updates for the 
local authority veterinary inspectorate 
on Authority audits; food chain 
information; domestic slaughter; 
supervision arrangements; and Food 
and Veterinary Office missions. 

EU ‘Better Training for 
Safer Food’ Initiative

Article 51 of Regulation (EC) No 
882/2004 empowers the EU 
Commission to provide training for 
authorised officers in Member States 
and Third countries. The training 
is provided by the EU for limited 
numbers of food inspectors and 
laboratory personnel in Member 
States. The Authority participated in 
three meetings in 2008, at which EU 
training activities were reviewed, a 
training programme for 2009-2010 
was outlined and priorities for future 
training were proposed. Procedures 
for improved coordination between 
the Commission and contact points in 
Member States were also discussed.

As a designated national contact 
point for Ireland for this initiative, 
the Authority is responsible for 
disseminating information on training 
courses to the official agencies for the 
purposes of co-ordinating nominations, 
ensuring a fair distribution of participant 
places and forwarding completed 
registrations to the Commission. 

In 2008, a number of places on 
various courses were allocated to 
Ireland. Participant places for staff in 
the Irish official agencies were then 
organised by the Authority. In 2008, 
the Commission also engaged an 
independent agency to evaluate the 
impact of the ‘Better Training for Safer 
Food’ programme and the Authority 
participated in this evaluation.

Food Safety Training 
Skills Workshops 

These two-day workshops were 
provided for trainers and managers in 
the food industry to enable them to 
deliver the Authority’s Food Safety and 
You induction training programme. The 
programme, designed for employees at 
induction level in all sectors of the food 
industry, uses methods and materials 
which also accommodate those with 
language or literacy difficulties. 

Training for Managers of 
Chinese Food Outlets 

This programme was carried out in 
Chinese food businesses countrywide 
during 2008. The course is delivered in 
Mandarin or Cantonese and ensures 
that restaurant staff are provided with 
food safety training relevant to their 
actual work practices. Training takes 
approximately one month to deliver 
per premises, beginning with an audit 
and ending with a follow-up visit to 
ensure training has been applied. 

The 2008 Food Safety Consultative Council open meeting 
discussed the topics of organic food and health claims. 
Research presented at the meeting revealed that while 80% of 
people understood organic food to be free from pesticides and 
chemicals, some 32% felt organic produce is a healthier option 
and only 15% believed organic food is ‘full of flavour and taste’. 
More than half (54%) of Irish consumers had never purchased 
organic food, believing organic food is too expensive. Pictured 
at the open meeting are (l-r) Ms Clodagh McKenna, Media 
Presenter and Food Consultant; Ms Veronica Campbell, Food 
Safety Consultative Council; Dr Con O’Rourke, Plant Scientist; 
Dr Mary Flynn, Food Safety Authority of Ireland and Ms Siobhan 
Morris, Organic Food Consultant.



Overview

Official agencies are likely to be the 
first contact point in dealing with food 
incidents at local level, working in co-
operation with the Authority. However, 
if a food incident becomes a national 
incident, the Authority will become the 
central contact point for information 
and will work in partnership with 
the official agencies. The Authority’s 
success in the management of the 
incident is reliant on the extensive 
access it has to experts working in 
official agencies throughout the food 
inspectorate. This expert inspectorate 
works in food enforcement areas 
under service contract to the Authority. 
During a food incident, they collaborate 
in the decision making process, and 
they are notified of the plan of action 
that needs to be taken to reduce 
exposure and to protect human health. 

Official agents carry out a range 
of predetermined actions devised 
by the Authority as part of the risk 
assessment and food incident 
management measures. Actions could 
include overseeing the swift recall of 
a particular product from the market, 
carrying out inspections at particular 
points across the food chain or 

Working with
Official Agencies
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Protocol Five

ensuring direct communications with 
specific food businesses. The official 
agencies also provide for a fluid sharing 
of information, as they relay important 
information to the Authority on any 
issues which could materialise during 
a food incident. This is significant to 
ensuring the Authority can adapt its 
food incident management measures 
in line with any new emerging 
information from the official agencies. 

2,000
Over 2,000 expert staff work in 37  
official agencies throughout the country.

38%
Food incidents increased by 38%  
in 2008, as compared to 2007.

Key Facts
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Food Safety  
Consultative Council

Central to the work of the Authority 
in promoting high standards is its 
obligation to consult widely on all 
aspects of its activities. The Food 
Safety Consultative Council was 
established for this purpose. It is 
comprised of prominent persons 
from many sectors including food 
processing, retailing, restaurants, 
consumer interest groups, farming and 
marketing. Their combined experience 
and expertise provides a valuable 
sounding board and also acts to alert 
the Authority to emerging issues.

The current 22 members were 
appointed for a five year period 
which began in 2006. During 
2008, the Consultative Council 
held five meetings. The first was 
an open meeting to which the 
public was invited and supported. 
The topics for the meeting were 
‘organic food – fact or fiction’ and 
‘health claims’. The Consultative 
Council has made a number of 
recommendations as a result. 

Further meetings during the year 
covered topics such as the education 
of children on food and food safety. 
In connection with this subject, the 
Consultative Council met with the chef 
Alice Waters, founder of the Edible 
Schoolyard Movement in the US. 

In July, the Consultative Council 
invited its counterpart from the Food 
Standards Agency Northern Ireland to 
meet with it. Members of the Northern 
Ireland Food Advisory Committee 
joined a meeting of the Council, 
explained its role, and outlined some 
current concerns. The possibility for 
further joint working was explored. 

Later in the year, the Consultative 
Council dealt with the proposed 
food labelling regulations, as well 
as considering the type of data 
on food safety available to and 
gathered by the Authority.

Engaging with  
the Food Industry

The Authority operates a number of 
schemes through which it effectively 
engages with the food industry – 
promoting best food safety practices 
and communicating the need to 
comply with food legislation. 

Industry Forums

The four industry fora created by 
the Authority continue to function 
as a platform for specific industry 
sectors to access the Authority and 
progress issues concerning food 
safety and hygiene. The functioning 
of these groups was reviewed in 
2007 and, where necessary, changes 
to membership, terms of reference 
and meeting structure were agreed 
and implemented in 2008. 

The Artisan Food Producer’s Forum 
represents the range of artisan food 
production in Ireland, as well as key 
representative bodies. There were 
two meetings in 2008, for which the 
Authority organised inspectors from 
different food agencies to talk about 
their role and work practices. This was 
a useful opportunity for both parties 
to understand each other’s points of 
view on food law enforcement. This 
series of presentations will continue 
in 2009. The Authority also organised 
presentations from the Food Standards 
Agency UK on its farmhouse cheese 
initiative. This led to the agreement to 
create a similar Irish scheme, which is 
now a work in progress. The Forum 
was also a platform for the newly 
appointed artisan technical advisors 
from Teagasc to meet members and 
present their plans to aid the industry. 

In 2008, the terms of reference for 
the Artisan Food Producer’s Forum 
were revised and it was agreed to 
meet twice annually in future years.

The Retail Forum focuses on the food 
retail sector, hosting members from 
the main supermarkets and the major 
symbol groups. This group met three 
times in 2008, principally to consider 
developments in new food law under 
development in the EU and how these 
might affect the sector. The Authority 
presented the results of surveys of 
food on sale in Ireland, which informed 
retailers where improvements needed 
to be focussed. Retailers sought 
advice from the Authority on a range 
of compliance issues facing their 
sector. Poultry meat was a main 
feature on the agenda in 2008, where 
issues concerning Campylobacter 
contamination of poultry packaging 
and application of shelf-life to loose 
poultry were discussed. Further 
action on these issues will progress 
in 2009. This Forum is well attended 
by the industry and it was agreed 
to maintain the terms of reference 
without change, along with the three 
meetings per year schedule. However, 
the Authority will be seeking to expand 
the membership of the group in 2009. 

Although the Food Service Forum 
had become poorly attended in 2007 
and was under review in early 2008, 
core members wanted the Authority 
to maintain the Forum as a means 
of access for the catering industry. A 
new membership was recruited and a 
new terms of reference was drafted. 
The new Forum met in September 
2008 and discussed food traceability 
and recall, public information on 
inspections and the Authority’s Safe 
Catering Pack. New members were 
proposed so that the Forum will be 
further strengthened in 2009, with 
a twice yearly meeting schedule. 

29,000 
The Safe Catering Pack was developed 
to assist the approximately 29,000 
businesses in the catering sector 
comply with the HACCP requirements.
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The Molluscan Shellfish Safety 
Committee, chaired by the Authority, 
is a national Committee for all those 
involved in the production and placing 
on the market of bivalve molluscs. 
During 2008, the Committee met four 
times at different locations around 
the country, to allow for maximum 
attendance from industry partners. 
The Committee was involved in 
planning for and managing incidents 
involving bivalve shellfish; reviewing 
the work carried out by the European 
Food Safety Authority in relation to 
shellfish; examining test methods 
used to assure the safety of wild and 
cultivated shellfish; and monitoring 
and contributing to ongoing research 
work carried on in both Irish and 
international academic institutions.

In addition to these Forums, the 
Authority is also represented on 
the Food and Drink Industry 
Ireland’s Technical and Legislation 
Committee. This representation 
is unique and valuable both for the 
Authority and the food manufacturing 
industry. It allows the Authority to hear 
first hand about issues concerning 
the development of new food law 
and it also gives food manufacturers 
direct access to information on 
key initiatives by the Authority. 

HACCP (Hazard Analysis and 
Critical Control Point) Activities

During 2008, the FSAI-HSE National 
HACCP Steering Committee focused 
on producing the ‘Safe Catering 
Pack’, and training environmental 
health officers in its use. A 
baseline of HACCP compliance in 
restaurants was also carried out. 

Safe Catering Pack

The Safe Catering Pack – which 
contains a workbook, instructional 
DVD and record books – was 
developed to address the needs of 
the approximately 29,000 businesses 
in the catering sector; in particular 
small businesses, who have been 
identified as having specific difficulties 
in complying with the HACCP 
requirement. The pack contains a 
workbook that was produced through 
a North-South collaboration with the 
Food Standards Agency Northern 
Ireland, representative caterers and 
environmental health officers. 

The purpose of the DVD is to replace 
the need for an environmental health 
officer to spend time explaining to a 
business how to use the workbook. 
Training for environmental health 
officers on the Pack was completed 
in December and it will be available 
to food businesses in 2009.

Assessment of HACCP Compliance

The baseline assessment, which 
assessed HACCP compliance in 
restaurants with greater than 50 
seats, was the first assessment under 
the National HACCP Strategy to be 
carried out since the introduction 
of HACCP flexibility. The majority of 
these restaurants (65%) reported 
using HACCP compliance Option 
3 (developing their own food safety 
management system based on the 
principle of HACCP). Nineteen percent 
said they used Option 2 (following the 
national guide to good practice), 11% 
reported using Option 1 (controlling 
hazards through the prerequisite 
hygiene requirements), while 5% of 
restaurants said they were not using 
any of these compliance options. The 
level of compliance within each of 
the three options was encouraging, 
with just 1.2%, 1.8% and 1.1% found 
to have no evidence of compliance 
with Option 1, 2 or 3, respectively.

Level of HACCP Compliance 
in Restaurants (Total 1,446)

Option 1: implementation of the prerequisite 
hygiene requirements where this ensures that all 
hazards are effectively controlled.
Option 2: use of the national recognised guide 
to good practice where the hazards and controls 
have been identified for a specific sector (IS 
340:2007).
Option 3: development of a food safety 
management system by applying the seven 
principles of HACCP.
*  Data for 193 businesses was excluded from the 

Option 3 analysis as the data submitted could 
not be validated.

Salt Reduction Programme

In 2008, the Authority continued to 
drive its initiative to reduce the salt 
content of processed foods in Ireland. 
The target is to reduce salt intake to 
6 g per day by 2010. To this end, the 
Authority continues to engage with the 
food industry to secure commitments 
on salt reduction in their foods. In 
September, the Authority launched 
its annual review of progress and 
published the new commitments from 
the industry for 2009. In 2008, seventy 
two companies were registered 
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with the Authority’s salt reduction 
programme; three of these were 
new entrants, but five companies 
had dropped out since 2007. Sixty 
two updates on progress and new 
commitments for 2009 were filed, but 
ten companies did not file reports. 

The food industry’s work was verified 
by the Authority in a programme of 
sampling and analysis in conjunction 
with the Galway Public Analyst’s 
Laboratory. Progress on salt reduction 
in snacks was confirmed, with a 12% 
salt reduction in this category. The 
Authority also studied the salt content 
of foods that made ‘reduced salt’ 
claims on their labels. Six of the thirty 
products investigated were found 
to contain sodium at unacceptable 
levels above those claimed on 
the label; the manufacturers were 
contacted and took remedial action. 

In 2008, the Irish Government signed 
up to a pan-European salt reduction 
initiative, under the auspices of the 
European Union High Level Group on 
Diet and Physical Activity. Ireland must 
now deliver a 16% reduction in the 
salt content of bread, cheese, ready-
meals and meat products by 2012. In 
2008, the Department of Health and 
Children organised a workshop to 
launch the initiative. The Authority will 
work with the Department to deliver on 
this important European commitment.

Certificates of Food Export

Upon request, the Authority provides 
certificates of food export for foods 
of non-animal origin. Certificates are 
issued upon analysis of the food, a 
positive inspection of the food business 
by the relevant official agency and, 
where necessary, an examination 
of the labelling. During the year, 
5,692 certificates were issued to 
28 companies for a wide range of 
products including alcohol, soft drinks, 
baking ingredients, food supplements, 
chocolates, confectionery, biscuits, 
enzymes and materials intended 
to come into contact with food.

Survey of Irish Food 
Packaging Suppliers 

During 2008, the Authority undertook 
a survey of food packaging companies 
in Ireland. Unlike food companies, 
there is no legal obligation for these 
suppliers to be registered, though they 
are subject to specific laws to prevent 
contamination of food from migration 
of substances from the packaging 
into the food. Recent developments 
in the legislation include rules for the 
use of good manufacturing practice 
in the manufacture of food contact 
materials and the requirement to 
provide customers with declarations 
of compliance with the legislation. 

The aim of the survey was to identify 
Irish companies involved in supplying 
packaging materials to the food 
industry, so that those companies 
could be informed of developments 
in legislation and consultations in this 
area. Response to this survey was 
high and results revealed that about 
130 companies in Ireland supply food 
packaging materials; and the top 
three materials handled are plastic, 
paper and corrugated products. 
The main business activities in this 
sector are manufacturing, import 
and distribution. The survey gave a 
good indication of the use of quality 
certification programmes (49% are 
certified to quality standards) and 
application of relevant legislation. In 
general, knowledge of the extensive 
legislation on food contact materials 
appeared low. This may indicate 
that many companies do not alter 
the material they handle and rely on 
their raw material suppliers or their 
customers in the food industry to 
ensure compliance with the legislation.

The survey indicated a positive attitude 
among the industry to the issue, and 
80% of the companies requested 
that they be kept informed of future 
legislation applicable to them. The 
survey has informed the Authority’s 
programme of official controls to 
ensure compliance with the legislation, 
which has to date, focussed on the use 
of food packaging by the food industry. 

The Authority warned in 2008 that the 
national target intake of 6g of salt per day 
would not be met by 2010, stressing that 
consumers need to make a significant  
effort to reduce the amount of salt they  
add to their food in cooking and at the 
table. As part of its national salt reduction 
policy and programme, the Authority also 
recommended that consumers use their 
purchasing power and opt for low salt 
products, which in turn will influence  
the food industry to reduce the amount  
of salt used in their products.

16%
In 2008, the Irish Government signed 
up to a pan-European salt reduction 
initiative. Ireland must now deliver 
a 16% reduction in the salt content 
of bread, cheese, ready-meals 
and meat products by 2012.

5,692
During the year, 5,692 certificates of 
food export for foods of non-animal 
origin were issued to 28 companies 
for a wide range of products.
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List of Health Claims Submitted to EU

In January 2008, the Authority 
submitted Ireland’s list of health claims 
required under Article 13 of Regulation 
(EC) 1924/2006, to the European 
Commission. Under the legislation, 
Member States were required to 
compile and submit a list of generic, 
well established health claims to the 
European Commission by 31 January 
2008. Each claim submitted had to 
be accompanied by the conditions 
applying to them and references 
to relevant scientifi c justifi cation. 

The Authority, with support and input 
from the Department of Health and 
Children, compiled a list of claims, 
which were submitted by industry using 
an online submission process that 
was hosted on the Authority’s website 
between June and December 2007. 

Ireland’s list consists of 329 separate 
submissions; most of which relate 
to a diet and health relationship in 
general, although some claims are 
product-specifi c. The claims on the 
list are not in any way endorsed or 
approved by the Authority or the 
Department of Health and Children.

Assessment of Very Low 
Calorie Diets in Ireland 

In 2008, the Authority carried 
out an assessment of the 
composition of very low calorie 
diets (VLCDs) on the Irish market. 

VLCDs are complete meal replacement 
diets for weight reduction. They 
provide between 450 and 800 kcal 
per day, resulting in an average 
weight loss of between 1.5 kg and 
2.5 kg per week. VLCDs, however, 
should only be used by people who 
are obese and who have failed to 
lose weight using less restrictive 
diets. There is currently no legislation4 
regulating the composition of VLCDs 
products which results in uncertainty 
about their essential composition.

The Authority’s assessment looked at 
four daily regimens selected from three 
VLCD systems notifi ed to the Authority. 
These four regimens, constructed 
using a variety of products (shakes, 
soups, bars) were compared to the 
appropriate compositional standards 
outlined by the 1996 Codex Standard 
for Formula Foods for Use in Very Low 
Energy Diets for Weight Reduction. 

When compared with the Codex 
Standard, the four VLCD regimens 
assessed did not all reach the minimum 
level set for energy (two regimens), 
protein (two regimens), carbohydrates 
(three regimens), copper (one regimen) 
and magnesium (one regimen). 
Although the Codex Standard does 
not set recommendations for fi bre, 
Directive 96/8/EC sets the fi bre 
requirement at 10-30 g per day – none 
of the regimes assessed met this 
recommendation. One regimen did 
provide a fi bre supplemented drink 
and another allowed for inclusion 
of vegetables, but these additional 
fi bre sources were optional. 

The Authority has raised the need 
for legislation specifying the essential 
composition of VLCDs at the EU 
Working Group on Dietetic Foods. 
As the VLCDs currently available 
in Ireland do not meet the Codex 
Standard for essential composition, 
the Authority has also been involved 
in on-going discussions with all food 
business operators concerned. 

4: European Commission Directive 96/8/EC 
regulates foods intended for use in energy-
restricted diets with an energy content of 800-
1,200 kcal, but there is no specifi c legislation 
for VLCDs (which provide between 450 and 
800 kcal per day).

329
Ireland’s list of health claims submitted 
to the European Commission consists 
of 329 separate submissions; 
most of which relate to a diet and 
health relationship in general.

In 2008, the Authority published a 
second edition of an opinion on zoonotic 
tuberculosis and food safety. This 
opinion contains updated information 
on tuberculosis caused by bacteria 
that are collectively referred to as the 
Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex 
and include Mycobacterium bovis. It 
advises on best practice in relation to 
the hazard of transmission of M. bovis 
to humans through consumption of 
cheeses made from unpasteurised 
milk taken from infected herds. 
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Scientifi c Advice

One of the key functions of the 
Authority is to provide advice to 
Ministers on food safety matters, 
which helps ensure that national 
food safety policy is based upon 
sound science and risk assessment. 
It also ensures that national food 
legislation and risk management 
decisions regarding enforcement of 
regulations are underpinned by the 
best scientifi c advice available. 

The Authority’s Scientifi c Committee 
is central to the provision of scientifi c 
advice and provides an invaluable 
service to the Authority. Together 
with its Scientifi c Sub-committees, 
these experienced and independent 
scientists form the backbone of the 
Authority’s scientifi c advisory structure. 

At the request of the Authority, the 
Scientifi c Committee considered the 
risks to consumers’ health posed by 
the recycling of agricultural, human and 
industrial wastes as fertilizers on land 
used for food production. In its review 
of the current scientifi c knowledge in 
relation to the treatment, management 
and best practice options available 
to prevent food safety risks from land 
spreading, the Committee highlighted 
the highest risks are associated with 
the recycling of pathogenic micro-
organisms in ready-to-eat crops. 
This risk is highest where raw human 
waste from septic tanks is applied to 

land. While the report identifi es gaps 
in current knowledge concerning the 
transfer of chemical contaminants for 
foods, the dioxin crisis in December 
2008 demonstrated that these 
chemical contaminants can be recycled 
in the food chain when contaminated 
animal slurry is used on grasslands. 

In 2003, the Scientifi c Committee 
provided an opinion on zoonotic 
tuberculosis and food safety. The 
Microbiology Sub-Committee re-
evaluated this opinion and in 2008, 
published the second edition of it, 
which was adopted by the Scientifi c 
Committee. This opinion contains 
updated information on tuberculosis 
caused by bacteria that are collectively 
referred to as the Mycobacterium 
tuberculosis complex and include 
Mycobacterium bovis. The opinion 
advises on best practice in relation to 
the hazard of transmission of M. bovis 
to humans through consumption of 
cheeses made from unpasteurised 
milk taken from infected herds. 

Keeping abreast of emerging risks 
is an area where the Scientifi c 
Committee plays a key role. In 2008, 
the Committee published a report 
from one of its expert working groups 
that considered the relevance for 
food safety of the application of 
nanotechnology in the food and feed 
industries. The key focus of the report 
was to ensure that consumers’ safety 
is protected in relation to developments 

in this area. There are many potential 
benefi ts for both consumers and 
manufacturers from nanotechnology, 
which include extending the shelf-life 
of products, as well as enhancing taste 
and texture characteristics of food. The 
report acknowledged certain limitations 
in our knowledge base and identifi ed 
the need to ensure that regulatory 
controls regarding the application of 
nanotechnology in the food sector are 
adequate to safeguard human health.

An import area of work for the Authority 
in 2008 was public health nutrition. 
The Scientifi c Committee reported 
on issues related to gluten-free or 
low-gluten foods, including their 
nutritional quality and the need for Irish 
standards for levels of gluten in food 
suitable for people who are intolerant 
to gluten. Gluten is a protein found 
in cereals such as wheat, barley and 
rye. People diagnosed as coeliacs are 
intolerant to gluten in their diet, and 
exposure to gluten may cause damage 
to their small intestine, producing 
a variety of symptoms including 
malnutrition, diarrhoea and anaemia. 
Recommendations included standards 
for safe levels for gluten in gluten-free 
and reduced-gluten foodstuffs; how 
gluten-free and reduced-gluten foods 
should be labelled so that consumers 
can make informed choices about 
the foods they eat; and the need for 
surveillance of foods on the market 
that make claims to be gluten-free.

The Authority published a report, Gluten-Free Foods, 
with recommendations on a number of issues related to 
gluten-free or low-gluten foods, including their nutritional 
quality and the need for Irish standards for levels of gluten 
in food suitable for people diagnosed as coeliacs, who 
are intolerant to gluten in their diet. The report makes 
additional recommendations including the need for 
surveillance of gluten in products intended for coeliacs, 
the importance of preventing cross-contamination of 
such foods by gluten-containing ingredients during 
manufacture and in catering and retail establishments, 
and the improvement of the nutritional quality of foods 
suitable for consumption by coeliacs.
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Partnership Activities

The food industry is a major contributor 
to Irish GDP. Therefore, there are 
several State bodies and not-for-profi t 
organisations that work to support 
the food industry. The Authority has 
developed good working relationships 
with these bodies and organisations, 
and has signed memoranda of 
understanding to cement those 
relations. It is important that there 
is co-ordination of work rather than 
duplications, so the Authority’s 
approach to partnership facilitates 
best deployment of resources. 

The Authority is heavily committed 
to the development of food industry 
guides to good practice by the National 
Standards Authority of Ireland, serving 
both on technical working groups 
and on the co-ordination committee. 
No food standards were published in 
2008, but two are in progress. The 
work conducted by the Authority with 
Bord Bia is also of importance. The 
Authority continues to serve on all 
of Bord Bia’s food quality assurance 
technical committees, where it seeks 
to ensure that best food safety and 
hygiene practices are incorporated 
into the standards for the schemes. 
In 2008, the Authority advised on 
the development of a new Bord Bia 
quality scheme for prepared fruits 
and vegetables and also advised 
on the revision of the Egg Quality 

Assurance Scheme. Finally, the 
Authority is represented on many 
food industry research projects and 
networks underway in Teagasc, 
third level institutes and universities. 
Here, the Authority provides advice 
on the food safety and technical 
barriers that require solutions for 
the food industry to comply with 
the food law. Such research is vital 
for the sustained growth of the 
food industry in Ireland and the 
protection of consumers’ health.

The Authority and Bord Iascaigh Mhara 
continue to enjoy a productive working 
relationship, underpinned by an agreed 
Memorandum of Understanding. 
Both organisations have contributed 
to each other’s initiatives and 
programmes and have pursued a 
number of joint projects, including a 
safe seafood guide, co-sponsorship 
of the Irish Shellfi sh Safety Workshop 
(along with the Marine Institute 
and the Sea-Fisheries Protection 
Authority) and training for industry. 

Food Safety Collaboration 
North and South

Networking and cooperation between 
food safety agencies on the island 
of Ireland has continued to be a 
priority for the Authority, together 
with the Food Standards Agency 
Northern Ireland (FSANI) and safefood. 
Regular meetings between the chief 

executives of the three agencies 
take place, and senior staff from the 
Authority and FSANI are members 
of the Scientifi c Advisory Committee 
of safefood. In 2008, the Authority 
collaborated with safefood on the 
development of healthy eating 
guidelines and the specialist working 
group was chaired by safefood.

International Participation

During 2008, staff from the 
Authority continued to work with 
the Department of Health and 
Children at European level on the 
development of food regulations, and 
to provide advice on technical and 
scientifi c aspects of food safety. 

An important milestone for the 
Authority in 2008 was the international 
recognition of its work in promoting 
food safety and consumer protection 
by the World Health Organization. In 
June, the Authority was honoured 
with the prestigious World Health 
Organization’s Food Safety 
Award where it was acclaimed 
as a world leader in promoting 
an integrated science-based 
approach ensuring the safety of 
food along the entire food chain.

During the year, the Authority published 
a report on nanotechnology and its 
potential future applications in relation 
to food and food packaging. The 
report, The Relevance for Food Safety 
of Applications of Nanotechnology in 
the Food and Feed Industries makes a 
series of recommendations to ensure 
that consumers’ safety is protected in 
relation to developments in this area, 
and outlines the current and potential 
uses of nanotechnology and the possible 
implications for the safety of food. 



Overview

Compliance and effective swift action 
by the industry is crucial during a 
food incident. Whilst the Authority is 
responsible for the enforcement of 
all food law in Ireland and has this 
as a resource at all times, it takes a 
highly proactive stance in relation to 
directing the industry to act swiftly 
during food incidents. It provides 
industry with the information needed in 
relation to a food incident and advises 
on what the appropriate action that 
is required from each food sector. 

The nature of the Authority’s 
engagement with the industry during 
a food incident is in direct proportion 
to the nature, extent and risks posed 
to human health. The food industry 
is obliged to withdraw unsafe food 
from the market and if it has reached 
the consumer, inform the consumer 
of the reasons for the withdrawal and 
if necessary, recall the unsafe food. 
The food industry must notify the 
competent authorities if they are taking 
such action. The Authority has a legal 
obligation to oversee product recalls 
and withdrawals. This activity is often 
carried out in conjunction with staff 
in the official agencies at a local level 

Directing the  
Food Industry

Year in Review52

Protocol Six

47,499 
47,499 food businesses in Ireland.

18
18 notifications of food incidents  
made by food businesses in 2008.

Key Facts

who ensure that any action which is 
requested is undertaken swiftly. The 
Authority also acts as a resource to 
the industry for advice and information 
on procedures during the recall and 
post recall measures required. The 
Authority has developed guidance 
documentation for the industry in  
this regard.



53



54 Year in Review

Today we operate in a global village 
with respect to food trade and closer 
working relationships and networking 
with the food safety authorities 
worldwide is essential to protecting 
consumers both within and across 
national boundaries. The investment 
in networking by the Authority paid 
dividends during the pork dioxin crisis, 
as it allowed close collaboration with 
the European Food Safety Authority 
in carrying out a risk assessment and 
assisted with rapid communication 
with other food safety agencies in 
countries importing Irish pork products. 
In March, the Authority signed a ‘Focal 
Point Agreement’ with the European 
Food Safety Authority that ensures 
closer working relationships on risk 
assessment and communication. 

The Authority hosted two collaborative 
events with the European Food 
Safety Authority during the year; 
a working group on scientific 
cooperation that focused on food 
fortification with folic acid and a 
meeting of the EFSA Advisory Forum 
Communications Working Group.

Corporate Management

The Authority is committed to comply 
with the Code of Practice for the 
Governance of State Bodies and 
the Standards in Public Office Act, 
2001. The Authority ensures that 
appropriate support systems are in 
place to facilitate the effective delivery 
of its services, whilst ensuring a high 
level of corporate governance. 

The Internal Audit Committee of the 
Board, which met regularly in 2008, 
continues to review the effectiveness 
of the Authority’s systems of control, 
including financial, operational 
and compliance controls and risk 
management. During 2008, an internal 
audit programme was completed 
by the external auditors, and also 
five internal audits were carried out, 
which demonstrated that the financial 
systems and operational procedures 
in place are effective. In 2008, a new 
financial system was implemented, 
which facilitates quicker processing 
of transactions and reports, and 
increases the quality of information 
available to management and staff.

During 2008, the Authority moved 
its physical IT network to a virtual 
environment. The Authority also rolled 
out an encrypted network, which 
allows the official food microbiology 
laboratories and public analysts’ 
laboratories around the country to 
send electronic reports directly to 
the Authority. The aim of this project 
is to move to an electronic format 
for entering data, thus eliminating 
the need for paper transactions. 

The Authority is committed to the 
professional and personal development 
of its staff by continually developing 
skills and expertise identified through 
its performance management 
system. In 2008, the Authority’s 
Partnership Committee continued 
to facilitate dialogue between 
management and staff, giving staff 
at all levels a collaborative forum 
for exchanging ideas on all aspects 
of the Authority’s operations. 

The Authority’s staff continues to 
embrace new initiatives and challenges, 
and their commitment is crucial to 
the success of the organisation.

The Authority’s annual competition for best food 
safety related project in third level colleges was 
awarded in 2008 to Ms Aisling Nolan, Dublin 
Institute of Technology, Kevin Street and Trinity 
College, Dublin for her assignment; ‘A survey 
of nutritional health claims on the Irish market 
and consumer opinion’. This study aimed to 
establish the number and type of health and 
nutrition claims currently in Irish supermarkets 
in five food categories. It also assessed the role 
of awareness, trust in claims and intention to 
purchase on food choice among a convenience 
sample of shoppers.
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Quality Management System

The Authority operates a quality 
management system (QMS) which  
is certified by the National Standards 
Authority of Ireland to the requirements 
of ISO 9001:2000. The QMS 
documents all the key processes and 
procedures of the Authority’s activities. 
During 2008, the Authority was 
successful in a two day surveillance 
audit that was carried out by the 
National Standards Authority of Ireland.

Looking Forward

The Authority was challenged by 
events during 2008, but demonstrated 
that Ireland has effective official food 
safety control systems in place to 
successfully manage major crises. 
The reputation of Ireland as a food 
producer and exporter has been 
enhanced by the actions taken to 
put the interests of the consumer first 
and foremost. A key task for 2009 
will be to review what happened and 
to enhance systems to ensure that 
such a crisis does not happen again. 

The Authority celebrates its 10th 
anniversary in 2009. This will provide 
an opportunity to reflect on the past 
ten years in our role as a single 
agency with the responsibility for 
coordinating and enforcing food 
legislation across all national agencies, 
of ensuring enforcement actions are 
underpinned by the best available 
scientific evidence, and of keeping 
consumers informed about the 
safety of the foods they eat. It will 
also be timely to examine the key 
challenges and opportunities that 
lie ahead for food safety regulators 
and all players in the food chain. 

A priority for the Authority has 
been to work in partnership with 
staff in the official agencies for the 
successful implementation of the 
service contracts. We are indebted 
to these individuals that have shown 
dedication and professionalism in the 
work they do to protect consumers’ 
health and consumers’ interests. 

We are grateful for the support that 
we received from our Board, our 
Consultative Council and our Scientific 
Committee that has shaped the food 
safety agenda of the Authority, and 
assisted in our development as an 
internationally recognised Authority. 
We are also grateful to the Minister of 
Health and Children, Ms Mary Harney, 
and the staff of her Department for 
their continued support in 2008. 

The staff of the Authority is our 
greatest asset. We owe a great 
deal to their clear sense of purpose, 
enthusiasm and professionalism. 

Over the next ten years, the Authority 
will move to the new phase of the 
food safety agenda. The Government 
plans, by 2011, to amalgamate the 
Food Safety Authority of Ireland, the 
Irish Medicines Board and the Office 
of Tobacco Control into a single 
agency. The Authority will embrace 
the opportunities presented by this 
development, look for synergies and 
above all, continue to serve the health 
and interests of the consumer. 

2009 will be a special year for the 
Authority, as we look back on our first 
decade with pride in our achievements 
and look forward to a new decade 
which offers new exciting opportunities.

Prof Alan Reilly
Chief Executive 
(from June 2009)
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Official Agencies 
with which the Authority had Service Agreements in 2008

The Authority is responsible for 
the enforcement of food legislation 
in Ireland, and carries out this 
enforcement function through service 
contracts with official agencies. Section 
48 of the FSAI Act, 1998 provides the 
legislative basis for this. The contracts 
drawn up between the Authority and 
official agencies outline the level and 
standard of food safety activity that 
the agencies will perform as agents 
of the Authority. The current set of 
contracts came into effect from 2006, 
and have a minimum duration of 
three years. They may be reviewed at 
anytime on the request of either party. 

* The Office of the Director of Consumer Affairs 
was integrated into the National Consumer 
Agency in May 2007. It is intended that a 
memorandum of understanding, rather than  
a service contract, will be developed with  
the agency

The Authority has also signed a 
memorandum of understanding with 
various other organisations, in order 
to facilitate cooperation and the 
exchange of information related to 
food safety. A service contract is a 
legal agreement to enforce food safety 
legislation, whereas a memorandum of 
understanding sets out a framework 
for co-operation between organisations 
in their food safety activities. 

Official Agencies with which the Authority had Service Contracts in 2008

Organisations with which the Authority has signed a Memorandum  
of Understanding in 2008

Our Governance

Sea-Fisheries
Protection
Authority

National
Standards
Authority
of Ireland

Marine
Institute

Director of 
Consumer 

Affairs*

County
Councils (27)

and City
Councils (4)

Health
Service

Executive

Food Safety
Authority of Ireland

Department
of Agriculture,

Fisheries
and Food

Food
Standards
Agency,
Northern
Ireland

Revenue
Commissioners
Customs and

Excise Service

Radiological
Protection
Institute

of Ireland

safefood

Teagasc Bord Iascaigh
Mhara

Food Safety
Authority of Ireland

Bord Bia
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Management Structure, 2008

Board

Mr Eamonn Ryan

CEO

Dr John O’Brien
Office of the CEO

Scientific Committee

Prof Albert Flynn

Food Safety Consultative Council

Ms Veronica Campbell

Food Science and 
Standards Division

Prof Alan Reilly

Service Contracts 
Division

Vacant

Consumer  
Protection Division

Dr Brian Redahan

Audit and 
Compliance Division

Mr Raymond Ellard

Corporate Services 
Division

Vacant
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1. Mr Eamonn Ryan (Chairman)

Prior to his appointment as Chairman of the 
Authority in March 2007, Mr Eamonn Ryan 
was Executive Director of IDA Ireland. In a 
career spanning three decades of Ireland’s 
economic transformation, he played a 
pivotal role in shaping and implementing 
strategy for the phenomenal growth of the 
Irish economy. Mr Ryan has a long and 
distinguished career in Ireland’s public 
sector and has a wide knowledge and 
experience of business in the domestic 
and international arena. He was Executive 
Director International of IDA Ireland’s global 
operations based in New York, where under 
his leadership and management, the agency 
attracted substantial levels of the most 
technologically-advanced foreign direct 
investment from the USA, Europe and Asia 
Pacific. Mr Ryan is a graduate of University 
College, Dublin, with further academic 
pursuits in Columbia University and 
Carnegie Mellon. He is a Board Member of 
the National Cancer Screening Service and 
a Board Member of Georgia Tech Ireland.

2. Prof John Daniel Collins

Professor John Daniel Collins MVB, MVM, 
MS (Calif.), PhD, MRCVS, FIFSTI is Emeritus 
Professor of Farm Animal Clinical Studies at 
University College, Dublin (UCD). He is an 
Honorary Member of the European College 
of Veterinary Public Health. Formerly, he was 
the Chair of UCD’s Centre for Food Safety 
and Director of UCD’s Centre for Veterinary 
Epidemiology and Risk Analysis. Professor 
Collins is a member of the European Food 
Safety Authority’s Scientific Committee and 
Chair of its Scientific Panel on Biological 
Hazards. He is a Member of the Food Safety 
Authority of Ireland’s Scientific Committee.

3. Mr Tom Collins

Mr Tom Collins, M Agr Sc, is Director of 
Corporate and Management Services 
with Teagasc. He qualified from University 
College, Dublin in 1971 and joined the 
Agricultural Advisory Service in Co. Meath. 
In 1978, he completed a Masters in 
Agricultural Extension under a Kellogg’s 
Foundation Funded Programme. In 1983, 
he was appointed Deputy Chief Agricultural 
Officer in Co. Kerry and in 1988 he moved to 
Offaly as Chief Agricultural Officer. In 2006, 
he took up his present post and is based 
at Teagasc head quarters at Oak Park, 
Carlow. He has particular interest in training 
programmes for primary producers in the 
areas of food safety and quality assurance. 
He is a strong advocate of a national 
quality assurance scheme for Irish food.

4. Prof Charles Daly

Professor Charles Daly is Emeritus 
Professor of Food Science and Technology 
at University College, Cork (UCC). He has 
BSc and MSc (Dairying) degrees from 
UCC and a PhD in Food Microbiology from 
Oregon State University, USA. His main 
research interests are in food fermentations 
and food safety. He has an active record of 
participation in National and EU Framework 
Research Programmes and has served as 
coordinator of major transnational EU food 
biotechnology projects. Professor Daly 
has received international awards from 
the American Dairy Science Association; 
the Danone Foundation; the Dutch Dairy 
Nutrition Foundation and the International 
Union of Food Science Associations. He 
holds a number of appointments: UCC/
Food Industry Partnership Board; Chair 
of the Scientific Advisory Committee of 
safefood; Enterprise Ireland – Functional 
Foods Forum; Horizontal Activities 
Group – European Technology Platform 
on Food for Life; and Scientific Advisory 
Board – EU SSA Project – Gut Impact.

5. Mr Peter Dargan*

Mr Peter Dargan, BA, MVB, MRCVS, 
Barrister-at-Law, qualified as a veterinary 
surgeon, and later as a barrister and 
was called to the Irish Bar. He is a recent 
Chairman of the Consumers’ Association 
of Ireland (CAI) and is presently a member 
of the Executive and Council of CAI. He 
previously owned a veterinary practice in the 
Midlands for twenty years, and was also an 
extensive livestock farmer and landowner. 
He was Secretary General of the Irish 
Veterinary Union, President of the Veterinary 
Council of Ireland and Irish Member of 
the Consumers’ Committee in Brussels. 
He is a Member of the Competition 
Review Group, under the Minister for 
Enterprise, Trade and Employment, and a 
Member of the Legal Affairs Committee. 

6. Ms Mary Falvey

Ms Mary Falvey is Principal Environmental 
Health Officer with the Health Service 
Executive South Region. She has over 
30 years food safety experience and 
has particular expertise of relevance to 
the catering sector and an interest in the 
regulation of nursing homes and pre-
schools. She has lectured in the Dublin 
Institute of Technology on the environmental 
health officers’ course and has served 
on the Authority’s Scientific Committee 
and its Additives, Chemical Contaminants 
and Residues Sub-committee. She is 
currently a member of the Cork Zoonoses 
Committee. Within the former Southern 
Health Board, Ms. Falvey was instrumental 
in promoting food hygiene training within 
the catering sector and other local food 
industries in the Cork region. She recently 
served on a number of committees 
producing interdisciplinary protocols 
on the investigation of both sporadic 
and general outbreaks of foodborne 
illness, and protocols on the regulation 
of nursing homes and pre-schools.

Board Members
At 31 December 2008
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7. Prof Albert Flynn

Professor Albert Flynn, BSc, PhD (NUI, 
Galway), is Professor in Nutrition in the 
Department of Food and Nutritional 
Sciences, University College, Cork. His 
areas of particular interest include food 
safety risk assessment, gene-nutrient 
interaction in bone metabolism, food 
fortification and risk benefit assessment 
of nutrients. Professor Flynn is Chair of 
the Authority’s Scientific Committee. He 
is also a member of the European Food 
Safety Authority’s Scientific Committee 
and is Chair of its Panel for Dietetic 
Products, Nutrition and Allergies.

8. Prof Michael Gibney

Professor Michael Gibney, M Agr Sc, MA, 
PhD, is Professor of Food and Health at 
University College, Dublin (UCD) and is 
Director of the UCD Institute of Food and 
Health. He is a former President of the 
Nutrition Society. He served on the EU 
Scientific Committee for Food from 1985 to 
1997, and then chaired the BSE Working 
Group, as a Member of the Scientific 
Steering Committee of the EU, from 1997 to 
2000. His research interests lie in metabolic 
and molecular nutrition, in public health 
nutrition and in probabilistic risk analysis. He 
is presently the coordinator of several major 
EU and nationally funded research projects 
and is also actively involved in the European 
Nutrigenomics Organisation. Professor 
Gibney was awarded the British Nutrition 
Foundation Prize in 2000. Professor 
Gibney has served on the Faculties of 
the University of Sydney, the University of 
Southampton and Trinity College, Dublin.

9. Ms Anne Nolan

Ms Anne Nolan, BSc. (Pharm), MBA, 
MPSI, is Chief Executive of the Irish 
Pharmaceutical Healthcare Association. 
She qualified as a pharmacist in 1982 and 
became a member of the Pharmaceutical 
Society of Ireland in 1983. She obtained a 
masters degree in business administration 
from University College, Dublin (UCD) in 
October 1993 and in recent years, has 
completed a number of the modules in the 
Director Development Programme at the 
Centre for Corporate Governance, UCD. 
From 1982 to 1987, she worked in retail 
pharmacy and pharmaceutical wholesaling, 
and from 1987 to 1994, she was Healthcare 
Group Director and Company Secretary 
with the Federation of Irish Chemical 
Industries. She was a member of the Irish 
Medicines Board from 1996 to 2005, and 
the Council of the Pharmaceutical Society 
of Ireland from 2003 to May 2007. Ms. 
Nolan is currently serving on the Board of 
the European Federation of Pharmaceutical 
Industries Association and the Association 
of the European Self-Medication Industry. 
In addition to her board commitments in 
the healthcare sector, she currently serves 
on the Board of the Irish Aviation Authority 
and the Smurfit Business School. Ms. Nolan 
is also a part-time lecturer in the School 
of Pharmacy at Trinity College, Dublin.

10. Mr Pat O’Mahony

Mr Pat O’Mahony, MVB, MVM, AMD, 
MBA, MRCVS is Chief Executive of the 
Irish Medicines Board, a position he took 
up in December 2002. Having spent 
a number of years in private veterinary 
practice and as technical manager in the 
pharmaceutical industry in Ireland and 
the UK, he worked in public health and 
was Director of Consumer Protection at 
the Food Safety Authority of Ireland. Mr 
O’Mahony was awarded an MBA degree 
from the Michael Smurfit Graduate School 
of Business, University College, Dublin in 
2001. He is Chairman of the Management 
Board of the European Medicines 
Agency and a member of the Board of 
the Irish National Accreditation Board.

* Term of office ended 31 October 2008

 The Board met six times in 2008.
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Scientific Committee

Prof Albert Flynn (Chair)
University College, Cork 

Dr Catherine Adley 
University of Limerick 

Prof Dan Collins
University College, Dublin 

Dr Collette Bonner 
Department of Health and Children

Prof Martin Cormican
University College Hospital, Galway 

Prof Colin Hill
University College, Cork 

Mr Cathal Kearney
Health Service Executive  
(until May 2008)

Prof Brian McKenna 
University College, Dublin

Dr Paul McKeown
Health Protection Surveillance Centre

Dr Terry McMahon
Marine Institute

Dr Michael O’Keeffe 
Formerly of Ashtown Food 
Research Centre 

Dr Dan O’Sullivan 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Mr Ray Parle
Health Service Executive

Dr Iona Pratt
Consultant Toxicologist 

Prof Michael Ryan 
University College, Dublin 

Dr Paula Barry Walsh
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Food Additives Sub-committee

Prof Michael Ryan (Chair) 
University College, Dublin

Dr Thomasina Barron 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Padraig Burke 
University College Hospital, Galway

Dr Claire Chambers 
Chambers Toxicological Consulting

Dr Edel Healy 
Dundalk Institute of Technology

Dr Philipp Hess 
Marine Institute 
(until July 2008)

Dr Liam Hyde 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Evin McGovern
Marine Institute

Dr John Moriarty 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Michael O’Keeffe
Formerly of Ashtown Food 
Research Centre

Dr Dan O’Sullivan
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Liam Regan
Department of Agriculture,  
Fisheries and Food  
(until September 2008)

Microbiology Sub-committee

Prof Martin Cormican (Chair) 
National University of Ireland, Galway

Dr Catherine Adley 
University of Limerick

Dr Paula Barry Walsh 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Tom Beresford
Teagasc 

Dr Cyril Carroll 
University College, Galway

Prof Dan Collins 
University College, Dublin

Ms Helen Cowman 
Health Service Executive

Dr Bill Doré 
Marine Institute 

Dr Geraldine Duffy
Teagasc

Dr Michael Fallon
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Prof Seamus Fanning
University College, Dublin

Dr Paul McKeown
Health Protection Surveillance Centre

Mr David Nolan 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Mr Ray Parle 
Health Service Executive

Dr Neil Rowan 
Athlone Institute of Technology

Scientific Committee Members, 2008

Our Governance
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GMO and Novel Foods  
Sub-committee

Prof Colin Hill (Chair)
University College, Cork 

Prof Philip Dix 
National University of Ireland,  
Maynooth 

Dr Thomas F Gallagher 
University College, Dublin 

Prof Matthew A Harmey 
University College, Dublin

Dr Liam Hyde 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Brendan Lynch 
Teagasc

Dr Thomas McLoughlin 
Environmental Protection Agency 

Mr Gerry McMahon 
Department of Health and Children 

Dr Paul Ross 
Teagasc

Dr Douwe van Sinderen 
University College, Cork

Dr Edward J. Walsh 
University College ,Dublin

Dr Ewen Mullins 
Teagasc

Dr John O’Neill 
Department of Environment, 
Heritage and Local Government

Nutrition Sub-committee

Prof Albert Flynn (Chair) 
University College, Cork

Dr John Kearney
Dublin Institute of Technology

Dr Mairead Kiely
University College, Cork 

Dr Sinead McCarthy
Teagasc

Dr Maureen McGowan
Health Service Executive

Dr Helene McNulty
University of Ulster, Coleraine 

Dr Celine Murrin 
University College, Dublin

Ms Ursula O’Dwyer
Department of Health and Children 

Prof Ivan Perry
University College, Cork 

Dr Helen Roche
Trinity College, Dublin

Dr Ita Saul
Our Lady’s Hospital for Sick Children 

Prof John Scott
Trinity College, Dublin

TSE Sub-committee

Prof Dan Collins (Chair) 
University College, Dublin

Dr Paula Barry Walsh
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr John Griffin 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food

Dr Colm Henry
Mercy Hospital, Cork

Dr Declan Mulhare 
Health Service Executive 

Mr Sean O’Laoide 
Westmeath County Council

Dr Margaret O’Sullivan
Health Service Executive 

Dr Mark Rogers 
University College, Dublin

Mr Michael Sheridan 
Department of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food
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Chair

Ms Veronica Campbell
Campbell Bewley Group

Members

Ms Darina Allen
Ballymaloe Cookery School 

Dr J Gerard Barry
Teagasc, Ashtown  
Food Research Centre 

Mr Kevin Bracken
Bracken’s Butchers 

Ms Marie Brady
Former Secondary School  
Vice-principal 

Mr Eddie Byrne
Byrne Group 

Ms Anne-Marie Crowley
National Standards Authority of Ireland 

Dr Fred Davidson
Cork Public Analyst’s Laboratory 

Mr Derek Deane
Irish Farmers’ Association 

Mr Dermott Jewell
Consumers’ Association of Ireland 

Mr Muiris Kennedy
Marketing Consultant 

 

Ms Fiona Lalor
University College, Dublin 

Ms Margaret Leahy
Organic Farmer 

Mr Peter Marshall
Irish Food Quality Certification 

Ms Sara Morris
Communications and  
Public Affairs Specialist 

Mr Martin Mullane
Dairy and Meat Industry Specialist 

Mr Eoin McBennett
Dairy Industry Expert 

Mr Tim O’Brien
Franzini’s Restaurant 

Mr Henry O’Neill
Restaurants Association of Ireland 

Mr Bill Paterson
Consultant 

Ms Anne Quirke
Consumer 

Ms Breda Raggett
Consumer 

Our Governance

Food Safety Consultative Council Members, 2008
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Industry Forum Members, 2008

Artisan Food 
Producers’ Forum

Ms Darina Allen
Ballymaloe Cookery School

Ms Myrtle Allen
Ballymaloe House

Ms Sally Barnes
Woodcock Smokery

Ms Esther Barron
Barron’s Bakery and Coffee 
House Ltd.

Mr John Brennan
Leitrim Enterprise Centre

Mr Jim Buckley
Cork County Council

Ms Mary Burns
Ardrahan Dairy Products 
Ltd.

Ms Martina Clarke
Irish Association of Seafood 
Companies

Mr Paul Fletcher
Premier Game

Ms Jeffa Gill
Durrus Cheese

Mr Frank Hederman
Belvelly Smokehouse

Mr Dave Lang  
(alternate Mr Liam Handy)
Associated Craft Butchers 
of Ireland

Mr David Llewellyn
Fruit of the Vine

Mr Raymond O’Rourke
Taste Council

Ms Caroline Robinson
Farmers’ Markets

Mr Declan Ryan
Arbutus Breads

Mr Michael Woulfe 
(alternate  
Mr Michael Gleeson)
Beekeeper

Food Service Forum

Ms Nicola Branigan
McDonald’s Restaurants  
of Ireland Ltd. 

Ms Louise Collins
Rocket Restaurant Ireland 

Mr John Coughlan
Masterchefs

Ms Martina Donoghue
Campbell Catering 

Ms Anya Greally Vintners
Federation of Ireland 

Ms Ruth Hegarty
Euro-Toques 

Mr Adrian Holden
Restaurants Association  
of Ireland 

Mr John Linnane
Dublin Institute of 
Technology 

Ms Helena O’Brien
Catering Management 
Association 

Mr Conor O’Kane
Irish Hotels Federation 

Mr Donal O’Meara Irish
Hotels Federation

Mr Henry O’Neill
Restaurants Association  
of Ireland 

Mr Donnach Walsh
Irish Prisons Association

Molluscan Shellfish 
Safety Committee

Food Safety Authority 
of Ireland (Chair)

Mr Paul Connolly
Bantry Bay Seafoods 

Mr John Hickey
Ms Vicky Lyons
Dr Terence O’Carroll
Bord Iascaigh Mhara

Mr John Falvey
Mr Brian Nolan
Mr Daniel O’Callaghan
Mr Michael O’Mahony
Mr Peter Whelan 
Sea-Fisheries Protection 
Authority

Dr Andrew Petersen
Enforce Labs

Mr Tim Coakley
Mr Richie Flynn
Mr John Harrington
Mr Finian O’Sullivan
Irish Shellfish Association

Dr Terry McMahon
Mr Michael O’Cinneide
Mr Joe Silke
Mr John Evans
Dr Bill Doré
Mr Dave Clarke
Ms Sinead Keaveney
Dr Philip Hess
Mr Conor Duffy
Marine Institute

Dr Andrew Flanagan
Public Analyst’s Laboratory, 
Galway

Mr Paul Hickey
Health Service Executive 

Retail Forum

Ms Josephine Aylward 
RGDATA Ireland

Mr Ray Bow 
Musgrave Food Services 

Ms Elaine Clohosey
BWG Foods 

Ms Suzanne Cullen
Superquinn 

Ms Mary Daly 
Dunnes Stores 

Mr Allan Davis 
Tesco Ireland 

Mr Torlarch Denihan 
Retail Ireland

Mr Frank Fortune
Mangans Wholesale

Mr Peter Jackson
Barry’s Group 

Ms Lynda Kenny
Musgrave Cash & Carry 
Wholesale Business

Ms Selena McAndrew
ADM Londis

Ms Elizabeth McGrath
ADM Londis 

Ms Mairead Rooney
Musgrave SuperValu Centra 

Mr Peter Wight
Marks and Spencer 
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Board Member Commercial Interests Non-Commercial Interests

Our Governance

Board Members’/Chief Executive’s Statement of Interests
From 1 January to 31 December 2008

Name of Organisation Nature of Interests Name of Organisation Nature of Interests

Prof John Daniel Collins None – European Food Safety  
Authority

Chair, Scientific Panel  
on Biological Hazards

Mr Tom Collins None – None –

Prof Charles Daly Alimentary Health Ltd., Cork
Eolas International, Cork

Shareholder/Director
Non-Executive Director

None –

Mr Peter Dargan 
(Until 31 October 2008)

None – Consumers’ Association  
of Ireland

Food Spokesman

Ms Mary Falvey None – None –

Prof Albert Flynn Kraft Foods North  
America Inc.
Kraft Foods  
International Inc.

Scientific Advice Danone
Kellogg’s (Irl/UK) Ltd.
Masterfoods
Birds Eye
Supervalu
Nutrition and Health Foundation
ILSI Europe

European Food Safety Authority

Support for Departmental Research

Member (occasional), Scientific
Expert Groups
Member, Scientific Committee
Chairman, Scientific Panel on
Dietetic Products, Nutrition and
Allergies

Prof Michael Gibney Nestlé Research Centre Nestlé Nutrition Council None –

Ms Anne Nolan None – None –

Mr Pat O’Mahony None – None –

Mr Eamonn Ryan (Chair) None – None –

Chief Executive
Dr John O’Brien

None – None –
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Scientific Committee Members’ Statement of Interests
From 1 January to 31 December 2008

Scientific Committee  
Member Commercial Interests Non-Commercial Interests

Name of Organisation Nature of Interests Name of Organisation Nature of Interests

Dr Catherine Adley None – iControl Solutions, Limerick Spouse, owner of ICS

Ms Paula Barry-Walsh None – None –

Dr Colette Bonner None – None –

Prof John Daniel Collins None – European Food Safety Authority Chair, Scientific Panel on Biological 
Hazards

Prof Martin Cormican None – Environmental Protection  
 Agency 

The Green Party

Research Funding on antibiotic 
resistance in Environment and 
Water
Chair, Health Policy Group

Prof Albert Flynn Kraft Foods North  
America Inc.
Kraft Foods  
International Inc.

Scientific Advice Danone
Kellogg’s (Irl/UK) Ltd.
Masterfoods
Birds Eye
Supervalu
Nutrition and Health Foundation
ILSI Europe

European Food Safety Authority

Support for Departmental Research

Member (occasional), Scientific
Expert Groups
Member, Scientific Committee
Chairman, Scientific Panel on
Dietetic Products, Nutrition and
Allergies

Prof Colin Hill Starterbiotics, Cork Director None –

Mr Cathal Kearney 
(Until May 2008)

None – None –

Prof Brian McKenna None – None –

Dr Paul McKeown None – None –

Dr Terry McMahon None – None –

Dr Michael O’Keeffe Teagasc Scientific Research 
Consultant (Part-time)

– –

Dr Dan O’Sullivan None – None –

Mr Redmond Parle None – Supermarket, Carlow
Butchers shop, Kilkenny

Managed by brother
Owned by brother

Dr Iona Pratt Food Safety Authority  
of Ireland

Consultant European Food Safety  
Authority

Member, Expert Panel

Prof Michael Ryan – Agricultural land None –



I have audited the financial statements 
of the Food Safety Authority of Ireland 
for the year ended 31 December 2008 
under Section 26 of the Food Safety 
Authority of Ireland Act, 1998.

The financial statements, which have 
been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out therein, comprise the 
Statement of Accounting Policies, the 
Income and Expenditure Account, 
the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement and the related notes.

Respective Responsibilities of the 
Members of the Authority and the 
Comptroller and Auditor General

The Authority is responsible for preparing 
the financial statements in accordance 
with the Food Safety Authority of Ireland 
Act, 1998, and for ensuring the regularity 
of transactions. The Authority prepares 
the financial statements in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland as modified by the 
directions of the Minister for Health and 
Children in relation to accounting for 
superannuation costs. The accounting 
responsibilities of the Members of the 
Authority are set out in the Statement 
of Responsibilities of the Authority.

My responsibility is to audit the 
financial statements in accordance 
with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

I report my opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and 
fair view, in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland. 

I also report whether in my opinion 
proper books of account have been 
kept. In addition, I state whether the 
financial statements are in agreement 
with the books of account.

I report any material instance where 
moneys have not been applied for 
the purposes intended or where 
the transactions do not conform to 
the authorities governing them.

I also report if I have not obtained 
all the information and explanations 
necessary for the purposes of my audit.

I review whether the Statement on 
Internal Financial Control reflects the 
Authority’s compliance with the Code 
of Practice for the Governance of 
State Bodies and report any material 
instance where it does not do so, 
or if the statement is misleading or 
inconsistent with other information of 
which I am aware from my audit of the 
financial statements. I am not required 
to consider whether the Statement 
on Internal Financial Control covers 
all financial risks and controls, or to 
form an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the risk and control procedures.

Basis of Audit Opinion

In the exercise of my function as 
Comptroller and Auditor General, I 
conducted my audit of the financial 
statements in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board and by reference 
to the special considerations which 
attach to State bodies in relation to 
their management and operation. 
An audit includes examination, on 
a test basis, of evidence relevant to 
the amounts and disclosures and 
regularity of the financial transactions 
included in the financial statements. 
It also includes an assessment of the 
significant estimates and judgments 
made in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the 
Authority’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so 
as to obtain all the information and 
explanations that I considered necessary 
in order to provide me with sufficient 
evidence to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In 
forming my opinion I also evaluated the 
overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements.
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Opinion

In compliance with the directions of 
the Minister for Health and Children, 
the Authority recognises the costs 
of superannuation entitlements only 
as they become payable. This basis 
of accounting does not comply with 
Financial Reporting Standard 17 which 
requires such costs to be recognised in 
the year the entitlements are earned.

Except for the non-recognition of the 
Authority’s superannuation costs and 
liabilities, in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 17, the financial 
statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles in Ireland, of the 
state of the Authority’s affairs at 31 
December 2008 and of its income and 
expenditure for the year then ended.

In my opinion, proper books of account 
have been kept by the Authority. The 
financial statements are in agreement 
with the books of account.

Gerard Smyth
For and on behalf of the Comptroller  
and Auditor General 

(30 November 2009)

The Authority presents its report for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Responsibilities of the Board Members

Section 26(5) of the Food Safety Authority of Ireland Act, 1998, requires the Authority 
to prepare financial statements in such form and manner as may be specified by the 
Minister for Health and Children. In preparing those financial statements, the Board  
is required to:

•	 Select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently.

•	 Make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent.

•	 Prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	 
is inappropriate to presume that the Authority will continue in operation.

•	 Disclose	and	explain	any	material	departures	from	applicable	accounting	
standards.

The board members are responsible for keeping proper books of account which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Authority 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with Section 26(5) 
of the Food Safety Authority of Ireland Act, 1998. The board is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Authority and hence for taking reasonable steps  
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Health and Safety

The well-being of Authority employees is safeguarded through the strict adherence to 
health and safety standards in accordance with the requirements of the Safety, Health 
and Welfare at Work Act, 1989.

Prof John Daniel Collins Ms Anne Nolan
Board Member Board Member

Statement of Responsibilities of the Authority
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Statement on Internal Financial Control

Financial Statements

Responsibility for System  
of Internal Financial Control

On behalf of the Board of The Food 
Safety Authority of Ireland I acknowledge 
our responsibility for ensuring that an 
effective system of internal financial 
control is maintained and operated.

The system can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance that assets 
are safeguarded, transactions authorised 
and properly recorded, and that material 
errors or irregularities are either prevented 
or would be detected in a timely period.

Key Control Procedures

The Board has taken steps to ensure 
an appropriate control environment by 

•	 clearly	defining	management	
responsibilities;

•	 establishing	formal	procedures	
for reporting significant 
control failures and ensuring 
appropriate corrective action.

The Board has established processes to 
identify and evaluate business risks by

•	 identifying	the	nature,	extent	
and financial implication of risks 
facing the body including the 
extent and categories which 
it regards as acceptable;

•	 assessing	the	likelihood	of	
identified risks occurring;

•	 assessing	the	body’s	ability	
to manage and mitigate the 
risks that do occur;

•	 assessing	the	costs	of	operating	
particular controls relative 
to the benefit obtained.

The system of internal financial control 
is based on a framework of regular 
management information, administrative 
procedures including segregation of 
duties, and a system of delegation and 
accountability. In particular it includes:

•	 comprehensive	budgeting	system	
with an annual budget which is 
reviewed and agreed by the Board;

•	 regular	reviews	by	the	Board	
of monthly and annual financial 
reports which indicate financial 
performance against forecasts;

•	 setting	targets	to	measure	financial	
and other performance;

•	 clearly	defined	capital	investment	
control guidelines;

•	 formal	project	management	
disciplines.

The Food Safety Authority of Ireland has 
outsourced the internal audit function, 
which operates in accordance with 
the Framework Code of Best Practice 
set out in the Code of Practice for the 
Governance of State Bodies. The work 
of internal audit is informed by the 
analysis of the risk to which the body 
is exposed, and annual internal audit 
plans are based on this analysis. The 
analysis of risk and the internal audit 
plans were endorsed by the Audit 
Committee and approved by the Board. 
The Internal Auditor provided the board 
with a report of internal audit activity.

This report included the Internal 
Auditor’s opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the system 
of internal financial control.

The Board’s monitoring and review 
of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal financial control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditor, 
the Audit Committee which oversees 
the work of the internal auditor, the 
executive managers within the Food 
Safety Authority of Ireland who have 
responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the financial control 
framework, and comments made by the 
Comptroller and Auditor General in his 
management letter or other reports.

Annual Review of Controls

I confirm that for the year ended  
31 December 2008 the Board carried 
out a review of internal financial controls.

Prof John Daniel Collins 
Board Member

17 September 2009
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Statement of Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies have 
been applied consistently in dealing with 
items which are considered material in 
relation to the financial statements.

A. Basis of Accounting

  The financial statements are 
prepared under the accruals method 
of accounting, except as stated 
below, and under the historical cost 
convention in the form approved by 
the Minister for Health and Children 
with the concurrence of the Minister 
for Finance in accordance with 
Section 26(5) of the Food Safety 
Authority of Ireland Act, 1998.

  Financial Reporting Standards 
recommended by the recognised 
Accountancy Bodies are adopted, 
as they become operative, with the 
exception of FRS 17 (Retirement 
Benefits) see note E below.

B. State Grants

  Grants from the Department of 
Health and Children are accounted 
for on a cash receipts basis.

C. Taxation

  The Board is exempt from 
Corporation Tax.

D. Assets and Depreciation

 (1) Tangible Fixed Assets

   Tangible fixed assets are shown 
at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is 
charged in the income and 
expenditure account, on a 
straight line basis, at the annual 
rates as set out below, so as 
to write off the assets, adjusted 
for estimated residual value, 
over the expected useful life of 
each appropriate category.

  (i)  Leasehold Improvements 15%

  (ii)  Computer Equipment  33%

  (iii) Office Furniture 15%

  (iv) Office Equipment 15%

  (v) Scientific Equipment 15%

 (2) Intangible Fixed Assets

   Intangible fixed assets are 
shown at their net book value 
having been depreciated at 
33% on a straight line basis. 
The depreciation for the year 
is charged to the Income 
and Expenditure Account.

   A full year’s depreciation 
is provided for in the 
year of acquisition.

E. Superannuation

  A superannuation scheme has 
been approved by the Minister in 
accordance with Section 39 of the 
Food Safety Authority of Ireland 
Act, 1998. The scheme provides 
for a contributory defined benefit 
pension scheme for all employees. 
Deductions from salaries are retained 
and are treated as income by 
the Authority. The Department of 
Health & Children’s annual grant-
in-aid to the Authority is net of the 
deductions retained. By direction of 
the Minister for Health and Children 
no provision has been made in 
the Financial Statements for future 
pension liabilities. Payments under 
the scheme are charged to income 
and expenditure account when paid.

F. Capital Account

  The Capital Account represents the 
unamortised value of income used by 
the Authority to acquire fixed assets. 

G. Operating Leases

  Rental payments under the 
operating leases are charged 
to the Income and Expenditure 
Account on an accruals basis.
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Statement of Income and Expenditure
For the year ended 31 December 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

	 	 E	 E

Grant Income 1 18,505,000 18,847,520

Sundry Income 2 426,134 359,170

  18,931,134 19,206,690

Transfer (to)/from Capital Account 9 64,373 (41,999)

Total income  18,995,507 19,164,691

Salaries, Pensions and related expenses 3 5,886,237 5,868,434

Other Operating Costs 4 5,171,697 5,575,486

Local Authority Veterinary Service 5 8,024,958 7,753,178

Total Expenditure  19,082,892 19,197,098

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  (87,385) (32,407)

Balance at 1 January  (331,016) (298,609)

Balance at 31 December  (418,402) (331,016)

The Statement of Accounting Policies on page 69 and notes 1 to 14 form part of the Financial Statements.

The Authority has no recognised gains or losses other than those dealt with in the Income and Expenditure Account.

Prof John Daniel Collins Ms Anne Nolan Prof Alan Reilly

Board Member Board Member Chief Executive 
  (from June 2009)
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

	 	 E	 E

Intangible Assets 10 42,109 75,730

Tangible Assets 6 263,587 294,338

Current Assets   

Debtors and Prepayments 7 7,772 77,565

Cash at Bank and on Hand  9,236 (11,168)

  17,008 66,397

Current Liabilities   

Creditors – Amounts falling due within one year   

Creditors and Accruals 8 435,409 397,412

Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)  (418,401) (331,015)

Total Net Assets/(Liabilities)  (112,705) 39,053

Financed by   

Income and Expenditure Account  (418,402) (331,016)

Capital Account 9 305,696 370,069

  (112,705) 39,053

The Statement of Accounting Policies on page 69 and notes 1 to 14 form part of these Financial Statements.

Prof John Daniel Collins Ms Anne Nolan Prof Alan Reilly

Board Member Board Member Chief Executive 
  (from June 2009)



72 Financial Statements

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008

 Notes 2008 2007

	 	 E	 E

Reconciliation of Surplus for Year to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  (87,385) (32,407)

Transfer to/(from) Capital Account  (64,373) 41,999

Depreciation Charge   

 - Intangible Fixed Assets 10 57,448 53,354

 - Tangible Fixed Assets 6 131,175 172,630

(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors  (69,793) (23,811)

(Decrease)/Increase in Creditors  37,997 (25,295)

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities  144,655 186,470

Cash Flow Statement   

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities  144,655 186,470

Return on Investments and Servicing of Finance   

Capital Expenditure   

Reclassification in respect of prior years 6,10 16,184 0

Payments to Acquire Intangible Fixed Assets 10 (39,961) (66,495)

Payments to Acquire Tangible Fixed Assets 6 (100,473) (201,489)

Increase/(Decrease) in Cash  20,405 (81,514)

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Funds   

Net funds at start of year  (11,169) 70,342

Net cash inflow/(outflow)  20,405 (81,514)

Net funds at end of year  9,236 (11,169)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

1. Grant Income 2008 2007

	 E	 E

Department of Health  

and Children Grant 18,505,000 18,847,520

 18,505,000 18,847,520

2. Sundry Income 2008 2007

	 E	 E

Superannuation Deductions 343,136 338,751

Sale of Publications 4,238 3,885

Funded Projects 20,702 16,453

Sundry Income 58,058 81

 426,134 359,170

3.  Salaries, Pensions 
    and Related Expenses 2008 2007

	 E	 E

Staff costs comprise  

Salaries and pensions 5,425,224 5,409,146

Social Welfare Costs –  

Employers’ Contribution 461,013 459,288

 5,886,237 5,868,434

The average number of staff employed  

during the year was 91 (2007: 94).

Salaries costs comprise the gross  

cost per employee plus employer’s PRSI.

4. Other Operating Costs 2008 2007

	 E	 E

Recruitment Costs 153,977 105,709

Board Members Fees and Expenses 89,307 91,061

Travel Expenses 269,771 345,350

Insurance 39,384 42,725

Stationary, Publications and Postage 588,365 574,477

Telephone and Internet 121,484 122,530

Research Costs 336,322 502,345

Cleaning and Catering 229,916 226,034

Repairs and Maintenance 67,434 31,525

Rent and Rates 1,290,414 1,131,745

Legal and Consulting Fees 508,404 562,301

Conferences 42,850 84,308

Communications Activities 424,103 968,071

Audit Fee 39,750 15,000

Depreciation Tangible Assets 131,200 172,630

Depreciation Intangible Assets 57,448 53,354

Other Operating Costs 781,568 546,321

 5,171,697 5,575,486

4(a). Communications Activities 2008 2007

	 E	 E

Public Relations 98,981 98,525

Industry Events 202,562 214,975

Industry Liaison 122,560 654,571

 424,103 968,071
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

5. Local Authority Veterinary Service

The Government decided, in December 2002, that the Local Government Veterinary Service should continue to be discharged by 
the Local Authorities and that funding for the service would be channelled through the Department of Health and Children and the 
Food Safety Authority of Ireland. Previously the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food had funded the service.

6. Tangible Computer  Office Office Leasehold Scientific Total
 Fixed Assets Equipment Equipment Furniture Improvements Equipment

	 	 E	 E	 E	 E	 E	 E

Cost    

At 1 January 2008 701,033 238,230 393,993 53,767 136,188 1,523,211
Reclassification in respect of prior years (75)     (75)
Additions 77,039 1,636 9,902 11,896  100,473

At 31 December 2008 777,997 239,866 403,895 65,663 136,188 1,623,609

Accumulated Depreciation  

At 1 January 2008 637,349 174,907 361,630 34,458 20,528 1,228,872

Reclassification in respect of prior years (25)     (25)

Charge for the Year 77,954 16,978 9,663 6,152 20,428 131,175

At 31 December 2008 715,278 191,885 371,293 40,610 40,956 1,360,022

Net Book Value      

At 31 December 2008 62,719 47,981 32,602 25,053 95,232 263,587

At 31 December 2007 63,684 63,323 32,363 19,309 115,660 294,338

7. Debtors and Prepayments  2008 2007

Amounts falling due within one year	 	 E	 E

Sundry income  7,772 77,565

  7,772 77,565
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

8. Creditors and Accruals  2008 2007

Amounts falling due within one year	 	 E	 E

Trade creditors  188,817 381,854

Accruals  36,339 

Payroll accruals  3,882 12,224

Tax creditor PAYE/PRSI  138,543 

Tax creditor - VAT  19,735 

Tax creditor - PSWT  48,093 

Capital accruals  0 3,334

  435,409 397,412

9. Capital Account 2008 2008 2007 2007

	 E	 E	 E	 E

At 1 January  370,069  328,070

Transfer from/(to) Income and Expenditure Account    

Funds allocated to acquire Fixed Assets 100,473  201,488 

Funds allocated to acquire Intangible Assets 39,961  66,495 

Reclassification in respect of prior years (16,184)   

Amount amortised in line with asset depreciation (188,623) (64,373) (225,984) 41,999

Balance at 31 December  305,696 370,069

10. Intangible Fixed Assets  2008 2007

	 	 E	 E

1 January, Opening Net Book Value  75,730 62,589

Reclassification in respect of prior years  (16,134) 

Additions at Cost  39,961 66,495

Less Depreciation Charge for the year  (57,448) (53,354)

31 December, Closing Net Book Value  42,109 75,730

Intangible fixed assets consist of software licences which are written off over their useful life.
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11. Operating Leases

The Authority occupies premises at Abbey Court, Lower Abbey Street, Dublin 1 under three leases. Two leases in respect of 
premises leased by the Office of Public Works and in respect of which the leases costs are borne by the Authority. These leases 
are for a 20 year term commencing May 1997 with five yearly rent reviews. The third lease is between The Food Safety Authority 
of Ireland and Irish Life Assurance plc for an 18 year 7 month term commencing October 1998 with five yearly rent reviews. The 
current annual rental charge of these leases amounts to €691,500.

12. Going Concern

In October 2008, the Minister for Finance, announced that, under forthcoming legislation, the Food Safety Authority of Ireland will 
be merged into a Public Health and Medicines Safety Authority on terms and at a date yet to be determined but anticipated to be  
1 January 2011.

In the mean time, the Authority does not consider that any material adjustment to the financial statements is needed to take 
account of this decision and, therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

13. Board Members’ Interests

The Board adopted procedures in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Department of Finance in relation to the disclosure 
of interests by Board Members and these procedures have been adhered to in the year. There were no transactions in the year in 
relation to the Board’s activities in which a Board Member had any beneficial interest.

14. Approval of Financial Statements

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 13th November 2009.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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